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CORPORATE OVERVIEW

Sharehotders’ funds of £357 million

EPRA net assets of £442 million

£877 million of office properties across London, France, Germany and Sweden
Top 3 property company total shareholder return performance in the last 10 years
Strong alignment of interest with shareholders management owns 54%

Substantial cash and liquid resources available for new investment

N R T

Cautiously entrepreneurial approach to future opportunities
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INVESTORS IN EUROPEAN
COMMERCIAL PROPERTY

» CLS1s a property investment company which has been listed on the
LLondon Stack Exchange since 1994

> We own and manage a diverse portfolio of £0 ¢ billion of modern,
well-let office properties in London, France, Germany and Sweden

» Our properties have been selected for their potential to add value
and to generate high returns on capital investment
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HOW WE OPERATE

Our goal is to create long-term shareholder value

We aim to achieve this by

> Purchasing modern, high quality, well-let properties in good locations in selected
European cities

> Working closely with our tenants to provide high quality accommodation at
competitive rates

>  Minimising vacant space within the portfolio

> Using In-house teams to manage, refurbish or redevelop properties
> Creating value through new developments

> Responding quickly to changes in macro-economic conditions

> Actively managing an appropriate level of liquid resources

- Mamtaining strong links with a wide variety of banks and other sources of finance

Key Performance Indicators

-  Total Shareholder Return

Aim - to provide a TSR of over
12% per annum over the
medium term -  Effective management of balance sheet
Achievernent - 2008-2010 52%, or Aim - to sell assets with Lmited
149%pa growth potential and invest
-2001-2010 247%, or in high yielding alternatives
?5%pa Achievement - 2006 to 2010 £746 mallian
of property sales
- 2010 £36 4 mullion of
<  Occupancy rate acquisitions yielding an
Aim - to maintain an average initial return
occupancy level on equity of 15 8%

of over 95%
Achieverment  -2010 95 7%
~ 2009 955% > Administration cast ratio
Aim - to mamntain
administration costs
below 15% of net rental
income

Achievement - 2010 15 6%
- 2009 14 9%
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Financial highlights 2010

Profit before tax up 283% to £70 9 mitlion (2009 £18 5 multion)

Net assets up 14% to £357 2 mullion (2009 £30% 0 miltion)

Net assets per share up 19% to 764 7 pence (2009 643 3 pence)
Earnings per share up 249% to 127 1 pence (2009 34 4 pence)

EPRA net assets up 13% to £441 4 mitlion (2009 £390 2 mellion)
EPRA earnings per share up 110% to 58 B pence (2009 28 0 pence)
EPRA net assets per share up 16% to 941 8 pence (2009 812 5 pence)

Proposed distribution to shareholders €7 1 msllion (April 2010 £4 0 rmullion)
by way of tender offer buy-back 11n 46 at 700 pence, equivalent to 15 2 pence
per share

Low weighted average cost of debt 4 3% (2009 4 Q%)
Adjusted solidity up 8% to 41 2% (2009 38 3%)
Adjusted gearing 124% (2009 135%)

Interest cover up 52% to 3 2 imes (2009 2 1 times)

Other key data

Top 3 performer in UK Listed property sectar total shareholder return over
3yearsand 10years 52% and 247% respectively

Portfolio value £876 9 mullion — up 3 5% in local currencies
Propartion of Government tenants 40 8%

Occupancy rate 95 7%

Liquid resources £124 4 mullion

Catena 29 9% shareholding market value £50 6 msllion,
book value £29 & million

Indexation applies to 66% of contracted rent

CLS Heldings plc
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CLSIN 2011 - LOOKING TO THE FUTURE

Developing well

The Group has a strong balance sheet, experienced management, diversity and
medium-term development potential within a robustly cash-generative business

Well managed

- Good returns to shareholders
In the ten years to the end of 2010, total shareholder return was 247%, one of the best
performances in the listed property sector
-  Highoccupancy rate
MNotwithstanding the economic pressures across Europe we maintained a low vacancy
rate throughout 2010, beginning the year at 4 5% by rental income and ending it at 4 3%
=  High debt collection
Our debt collection rates consistently exceeded 90% within a few days of the due date
during the year
-  Effective cash management
At a time of benign interest rates we invested in corporate bonds which produced a
return on capital employed of 16 3% in the year, and 29 3% per annum over two years
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Strongly positioned

< Longewity of income
95 7% of the portfolio 1s let, with a weighted average lease
term of 8 4 years, including 10 1 years m London

= High quality of iIncome
41% of the rent rall Is cantracted to governmental
organisations, and a further 28% to major corporations

2  Indexation of income
446% of contracted rent 1s subject to indexation

- Lowweighted average cost of debt
Our weighted average cost cf debt at the year end was
4 3%, with 84% of our debt at fixed rates or hedged

PROPERTY VALUES BY GEOGRAPHY

-  Improving interest cover Sweden
Qur recurring interest cover 1s running at 3 2 times, €56 7m London
up from 2 1 times in 2009 £375 0m
>  Solid asset hase Germany

At the year end we held cash and other liquid resources of £196 Sm

€126 millian and investment properties worth £877 million France

£248 7Tm

Diversified

- Geographical
We are invested in four areas - London, France, Germany and Sweden
- and operate in three currencies

- Financing
We have banking relationships with 20 banks, and actively explore
a range of options to secure ongeing financing reguirements

2 Asset mux
We own 71 properties containing 381 tenants in a total lettable area
of 407 000 sg m

- Diversified portfolio
- 4 markets

= Specialist in high-
yielding offices

» Focused on cash-
on-cash returns




CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

These excellent results demonstrate how the Group
continues to benefit from its diversity

OVERVIEW

The Group delivered a strong financial and operating
performance overall in 2010, continuing the progress of the
first half of the year Pre-tax profit rose by over 280% to
£70 9 mitlion, earnings per share an an EPRA basis were
58 8 pence (2009 28 0 pence) and EPRA net asset value
increased by 16% to 941 8 pence per share

This has all been achieved despiie difficult conditions
throughaout the year, with a backdrop of austenty a
challenging macro-economic and political situation and
Increasing uncertamnty over the sovereign debt of certain
Eurozone economies

We have used this period In the property cycle to start buying
property again We have been successful in leting premises
and keeping the vacancy rate low whilst beginning to
progress a number of short to medium-term development
opportunities within aur portfolio In additton aur property
values are rsing again across our regions and we continue
to raise finance competitively

These excellent results demonsirate how the Group cantinues
to benefit from its diversity of exposure to four different
ecanamies, three different currencies, some twenty different
banks and 381 tenants This diversification has proved to be a
key element to our success

We canstantly seek to manage down risk, whilst striving for
attractive returns far shareholders The cbvious success of
our policy 15 demonstrated by our total shareholder return of
92% over the last three years and 247% over the tast ten
which makes CLS a top 3 perfarmer in the UK listed property
sector over both pericds

PORTFOLIO

Overall the portfolio performed saolidly during 2010, with a
like-for-like valuation increase of 3 5% in local currency The
benefit of our diversificaticn acrass markets 1s self-evident
the London pertfolio increased by 1 3%, France by 7 5%, and
Germany by 4 2%, whilst Sweden fell by 1 2% Acquisitions
during the year in London and in Paris, totatled £36 4 million
and, after a negative currency impact of £8 4 mitlion, the total
portfalio 1s now valued at £876 9 million

The portfchio consists of 71 properties totatling 407,700 sq m
The average capital value 1s £2,151 per sq m and the average
income of leased space 15 £169 persqgm

The net intizl yreld of 7 2% compares to a low average cost of
debt of 4 3% a positive differentiat of 290 basis points which
continues to be amongst the highest in the property sector
It1s a further strength of our porifolio that 6% of our rents
are subject {0 indexation which will prove to be valuable in
times of higher inflation ahead

The encouraging signs In the letting market which Findicated
In the interim report have continued and the vacancy rate I1s

4 3% by rental value (2009 4 5%) This remains well below the
average vacancy for offices in our markeis and i1s testament to
the success of our staff in preactively managing the properties,
developing good working relattonships with tenants and
responding to their needs

The rental income 1s diversified yet secure, with 41% being
paid by Government tenants and 28% by major corporations
Our weighted average lease length 1s B & years, or 7 3 years
to first break

During the second hatf we announced two substantial pre-lets
of develepments totalling 5,042 sq m for existing tenants in
Germany Construction i1s planned to start in 2011 and when
completed, these will generate £0 5 mitlon of new rent

Our indirect investment in Swedish property through our

29 9% holding in Listed property company Catena performed
exceptionally wetl during the year We received dividends of
£9 9 mullion whilst the share price mcreased by 104% At

31 December 2010 our helding in Catena had a market value
of £50 6 milion compared to the carrying value in our accounts
of £29 6 mullion, and at 4 March 2011 the value of our holding
had risen by a further £14 millicn The patential surplus value
of £27 rillion equated to 45 pence per CLS share as at the
year end, and has since risen to over 74 pence per share
Towards the end of 2010 Catena took advantage of the high
property prices 1n Sweden to sell a substantial part of its
property portfalio From the proceeds, Catena has preposed,
subject to shareholder approval, to distribute SEK 29 per
share in April 2011, from which CLS would receive
approximately £20 million in cash

Catena s future focus 1s on the development of the remaining
properties in Stora Frosunda, Solna, where building rights for
housing offices and commercial prermises will be created
when the new zoning plan for the area 1s approved Outline
planring permission 1s anticipated to be for approximately
150,000 sq m camorising of 1,000 apartments and 50 000 sq m
of commerciat area

In February 2011 we launched a consultation for a major
110,000 sq m mixed use medium-term redevelopment at our
HQ site in Vauxhall Further details can be foend in the
Business Review We are also working on redevelopment
proposals far two other, smaller sites in Vauxhall

RESULTS

Profit after tax rose by 245% to £40 1 million (2009 €17 4
mitlien) This includes gains of £10 7 million on the disposal of
carporate bonds Basic earnings per share were 127 1 pence
(2009 34 4 pence)
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Net assets rose to £357 2 millicn an increase of £48 2 million
and EPRA net assets rose by £51 4 million to £441 6 mitlion
Our basic net assets per share increased by 19% to 766 7
pence (2009 643 3 pence)

Recurring interest cover for the year increased by 52% to

32 times (2009 2 1 times) The Group s property loan to value
ratio was 63 5% and net debt as a proportion of adjusted net
assets was 123 6%

FINANCING

Our strategy of ring-fencing our debt on individual properties
and using same 20 different banks, continues to serve us well
Despite the widely reported challenges in the banking sectar,
we have successfully refinanced £80 3 million of debt and
raised £22 4 rllion of new debt and since 1 January 2011 we
have agreed the refinancing of a further £24 7 million of debt
In addition we have entered into £205 6 millicn of interest rate
caps with start dates between November 2010 and May 2011
of which £182 millien have a strike rate of 2 5% This will
protect the Group from the risk of interest rate rises in the
nexi five years

The weighted average loan length 15 4 § years We generally
approach aver ten banks far any financing and actively explore
a range of options to secure our ongaing finance requirements
We enjoy strong relatiecnships with our banks, te our mutual
benefit

Our balance sheet 1s strong with adjusted solidity of 41 2%
and we have healthy liquid resources, with £126 milion of
cash and investments avattable for deployment We have
cantinued to invest surplus cash into cerporate bonds as a
cash management techmque to generate higher returns
whilst maintaining bquidity At the year end, the Greup held
£78 1 mullion of bends which were generating an annual
coupon of 8 3% on average

ENERGY EFFICIENCY

Energy effictent buildings are both commercially beneficial
and socially desirable We continue to incorporate
environmentatly efficient features in our developments and
convert or modify properties when possible At Vanerparken
in Sweden for example, we are installing a new energy faciiity
which will produce heating, cocoling and hot water whilst
decreasing COz2 and cther emissions by approximately $0%

In addition we are reviewing the performance of our existing
plants and systems across the portfolio to identify further
potenttal improvements The short payback period on such
investments can lead to valuable cost savings for tenants and
for the Group

Governance

Financial Statements
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DISTRIBUTIONS TGO SHAREHOLDERS

In April 2010 we distributed £6 0 millien by means of a tender
buy-back of shares and in September a further £4 0 million
We intend to continue our tradiional tender buy-back method
by distributing £7 1 million to shareholders in April 2011,
subject to sharehctder approval, by means of a buy-back of

1 in 46 shares at 700 pence per share A document setting out
details of the tender offer will be postad to shareholders with
our Annual Report and Accounts

BOARD CHANGES

On 11 May 2010 Richard Tice and Jennica Mortstedt jained the
Board as Deputy Chief Executive and Non-Executive Director,
respectively, whilst Bengt Mortstedt retired as a Non-Executive
Direcior I thank my brother Bengt for his many years of
service and wise counsel to the Group

Cn 1 January 2011, Henry Klotz became Executive Vice
Chairman Richard Tice became Chief Executive Officer and
Themas Lundqvist moved from Vice Chairman to Non-Executive
Director Thesa changes are designed to ensure the Group has
the appropnate management structure to take 1t forward

We have strong teams across the Group and | would like to
exprass my considerable thanks to my Board colleagues and
our staff for all their efforts and hard work towards qur
continued success

CUTLOOK

The economic signals have rarely been mare mixed In an era
of government austerity, inflation 1s rising, cradit 1s tightening
and sovereign debt 15 a concern Also the signals from the
praperty sector are mixed we are letting space, arrears are
negligible and interest rates are at all ume lows, yet, due to
the banks restrictive credit policies, there are fewer buyers
for high-yielding property

Therefore we intend to maintain high reserves of Lquidity
while, on a selective basis, continuing to actively explowt
attractive property acquisitions as they arise Meanwhile, we
shall progress some very interesting short and medwm-term
development oppartunities within sur portfolio which have the
potential to add significant further value

| am pleasead with the streng performance in 2010 and with
the fact that the Group 1s 1n an excellent pasition to meet any
challenges and oppartunities that lig ahead

Sten Mortstedt
Executive Chairman




BUSINESS REVIEW

The low void rate of 4.3% 1s a strong reflection on the focus
on active management and responding to tenants’ needs

The Group s main activty 1s In commercial real estate across
four Eurapean regions London France, Germany and Sweden
At 31 December 2010, the Group s property interests of

£927 5 million comprised the directly ownad investment
property partiolio valued at £876 ¢ millen and an addittonal
property exposur e In Sweden via an associate listed on the
Stackholm Stock Exchange property cormpany Catena AB
which investment had a market value of £50 6 million The
remaning Other Investments comprised invesiments in
corporaie bonds which had a book value of £78 1 million at the
year end, and Bulgarian Land Development Ple, website media
cempany Wyatt Media Group AB and other small corporate
investments, which together had a boak value of £14 5 million

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

OVERVIEW The Group s core focus 1s on providing well-
managed, cost-effective offices and commercial real estate
for companies in key Eurapean cities across four countries

At 31 December 2019, the directly held investment portfolio
was valued at £876 9 million a bike-for-Uke increase in the
year of 3 5% in local currencies or 2 3% after reflecting
foreign exchange movements against sterling In tocal
currency, the French pertfolio rose invalue by 7 5% Germany
by 4 2% and London by 1 3%, whilst Sweden fell by 1 2%

The portfolio had a net imitial yield of 7 2% wath 381 tenants
and a weighted average lease length of 8 4 years, or 7 3 years
ta the first break Of the contracted rent of £65 0 million 66%
was subject to indexation

The overall Group vacancy rate continued to be law at 4 3%,
below the 5 year average of 4 7% This low void rate 15 a strong
reflection on the Group s focus on actively managing our
portfolio, with aur in-house asset and property management
teams responding to tenants needs

The property investment markets saw fewer buyers far
high-yrelding property in 2010, which provided cpportunities
for acquisitions In London, the Group acquired Apex Tower,
New Malden for £21 6 milllon and the strategic acquisition
of 100 Vauxhall Walk, SE11 for £1 8 million to complete a
development site assembly These were followed by the
purchase In Paris of Colt Group s French subsidiary
headquarters for £13 0 million
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LONDON

At 31 December 2010, the Londen portfolio
represented 40% of the Group's praperty interests
with a value of £375 0 mitlion This was an increase
of 1 3% on a Like-for-like basis from twelve months
earlier, and reflected a variety of asset management
initiatives throughout the portfolio The London
portfolio had a strong tenant profile with 53% by
rental value let to government tenants, and 29% to
major corporations The income had a weighted
average lease term of 10 1 years, or 9.4 years to the
first break

At 31 December 2010, the Lendon portfolic comprised 28
properties with an aggregate lettable area of 127 700 sqm

Against a backdrop of austerity and recession, the London
vacancy rate of 4 7% by rental income was well below the
average for comparable property During the year, 8,112 sqm
of property became vacant, and é 632 sq m was let or had
leases renewed with existing tenants

As a long-term owner of properties we have continued a
programme of renovation and refurbishments to a number
ot buildings in the London portfalio, totalling £0 4 mullion

in aggregate in the year This included £0 3 mithion at
Westminstar Tower where the cammon parts and four
recently vacated lower floors are under refurbishment, which
should improve rental values Rent reviews were settled at
Spring Gardens, Westminster Tower, Cambridge House and
Cl Tower with a total increase of £0 2 million Activity of note
ncluded a significant lease renewal with, and an additionatl
letting to, Flight Centre at Cl Tower totalling 1,497 sq m, and
new lettings and lease renewals at Clifford s Inn on 2,937 sa m

Through our close relationships with tenants we have again
achieved excellent levels of debt recovery On average we
receved 98% of rent and service charge within 14 days of the
due dates

In November, the Group acquired Apex Tower, New Malden for
£21 6 millon including costs Apex Tower Is located on the
opposite side of the High Street to Cl Tower This provides a
number of medium-term asset management apportunities
across the twa properties, which together with their large car
parks cover a total of two acres, direcily adjacent to a busy
raillway station Apex Tower consists of 3,015 sq m of offices
on 15 upper floers four retail units and a public house at
ground floor level {1,202 sq m) and a four storey car park at
the rear The building 1s fully let and produces £1 9 mitlion of
income p a, of which 94% 1s from a lease to BAE Systems on
the wniole of the offices and expiring in June 2020, the retail
tenants include Tesco Stores and Willam Hill Organisation
On acquisition the netinitial yield to CLS was 8 66% and with
debt financing the inial return on equity was 16 1% p a

Financial Statements

CLS Holdings plc
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é Sybstantial
regeneration is
going to occur
in the Vauxhalt
and Nine Elms
area "

tn the medium term, substantial regeneration is going to
occur In the Vauxhall and Nine Elms area, which 15 the
location of the new United States embassy due to openin
2016 The Group has substantial landholdings in Vauxhatl,
including three potential development sites The largest of
thesa 1s the three acre Cap Gemini site at Vauxhall Cross,
close to Vauxhall mainline, underground and bus stations
This site 15 1dentified by the GLA and Lambeth Councit as
being suitable for tall bulldings in the Vauxhall Nine Elms
Gpportunity Area In February 2011, following discussions
with a number of key stakeholders, the Group made public
proposals for a major mixed use redevelopment scheme on
this site including a large new pubbic square tor Yauxhatl

These plans aim to provide over 110 000 sg m gross area,
inctuding shops, offices, a hotel, a multi-screen cinema
restaurants and bars, together with two 43 storey towers aof
residential apartmeants and student housing In addition the
Group has proposed an aenal Linear Walk to improve the
public realm for pedestrians in the Vauxhall Cross area

The aim s to submut far planning permissian for this large
scheme by the end of 2011, and vacant possession of the
site 1s expected 1n 2014

The Group s development sites in Vauxhall are important
projects in an improving area oftering strong potential for
adding value to substantial holdings




BUSINESS REVIEW CONTINUED

FRANCE

The French portfolio was valued at £248.7 million,
which represented 27% of the Group’s property
interests across its four key regions The portfolio
increased in value by 7 5% in the year in local
currency on a like-for-like basis There were no
disposals from the French portfolio in the year,
which at the year end comprised 26 properties of
96,500 sq m with 171 tenants 21% of the French
portfolio was let to government tenants, most
tenancies were of the traditional French 3 6 9 year
duration, and the weighted average lease length at
31 December 2010 was b 9 years, or 3 1 years to the
first break

In Octobar the Group acquired 23/27 Rue Pierre Vallette, in the
sauthern Parisian suburb of Malakaff, for £13 0 million The
buitding 15 let te Colt Group SA a FTSE 250 company
specialising in fibre optic netwarks, on an indexed lease until
September 2018 with no breaks The 10,7746 sg m office and
industrial property produces €1 1 million p a , which equates
to €104 per sq m and reprasented an inittal yield of 7 38% to
CLS With the debt finance, the initial return on equity was

15 26% p a The building 1s close to the Quatuor office
property already owned by CLS in Montrouge

In the French porifolio there were 16,080 sq m of new lettings
or renewals, and tenants vacated 15 463 sq m the resulting
year end vacancy rate was 3 6% by rental value The letiing of
1131 sq m at Le Debussy, Paris was noieworthy, together
with two sizeable lettings in Forum and Rhone Alpes, Lyon
totalling 1 0246 sq m, which meant that at the year end all five
Lyon properties ware fully et

The refurbishment and renovation across the pertfolio totalled
£2 5 million of which the major warks were at Le Sigma
Paris involving new heating and cooling systems

The French investment markat recovered welln 2010, with
circa €12 1 billion of transactions The supply of vacant space
has reduced to 7 2% in the Paris region and with very little
new construction under way renis are stabilising for well
managed, cost-effective offices We expeact to start to see
some rental growth in 2011 in certain locations The lack of
new construction 1s a feature common to all our regions and
15 likely to remain so until speculative construction becomes
less difficult to finance

GERMANY

At 31 December 2010, the German portfolio was
valued at £196.5 million, being 21% of the Group's
property interests These 16 properties saw an
increase in value of 4 2% n lecal currency on a like-
for-Like basis, and comprised 138,000 sq m of lettable
space with 83 tenants on a weighted average lease
term of ¢ 6 years, or 9 3 years to the first break
18% of the contracted rent was from government
tenants

During the year tenants vacated 15 689 sg m, and lettings or
lease renewals were achieved in 14,889 sqg m, resulting in a
vold rate of 5 5% by rental value, well below the national
vacancy rate for offices of 10 6%

During the second half of 2010 we proved the benefit of
working closely with tenants with the signing of two pre-leis
First, the entire 3,400 sq m of the Phase 4 office development
in Landshut, which 1s to be completed by the summaer of 2012
was let on 3 17 5 year, index-linked lease with no breaks to

E ON Service Plus GmbH, at & starting rent of £0 4 million per
annum Second the Group agreed to develop a further 1,642
sq m of space at its office and light industrial property
Grafelfing, in Munich, for 1ts existing single tenant Or Honle
AG The new space is to be completed by the end of 2011, and
has been let, together with the existing space aon an index-
linked lease untild October 2020 with no breaks, to form an
8,527 sq m complex

Notable actwity in Hamburg included letting 1,513 sq m at
Fangdieckstrasse to a fast growing medical group, and a lease
ranewal for 4,153 sq m at Merkurring

Germany s GDP rebounded strongly in 2010 growing by 3 6%
for the year, led by export growth Activity in the German
cammercial investment property market increased to €19 4
billion in 2010, up 85% The main investors were open-ended
and clesed-ended reat estate funds which represented 63%
of the market

The affice letting market increased in 2010 and there
remained very imited development activity We would thus
expact to see the void rate fall in 2011 across most of the main
German cities
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NET INITIAL YIELD Vs WEIGHTED AVERAGE
COST OF DEBT (%)

80% . 1 Net mitial yreld
7 0% ]
M 1 Weighted

& 0% average cost
5 0% of debt

SWEDEN 4 0%
3 0%

Our Swedish property interests comprised two elements > 0%

which together represented 12% of the Group's property © %

Interests across Its four key regions 00%

First, the wholly owned 45,500 sg m of offices in Vanershorg, near 07 08 09 1D

Gothenburg, called Vanerparken At 31 December 2010 this was valued

at £56 7 million a fall of ¥ 2% on a like-ior-like basis The local

municipality has leased 91% of the space untit 2015 and 2019 subject

to annual iIndexaton The vacancy rate 1s just 2 0%

The second element of the Group s exposure ta Swedish real estate 1s L

through its 29 9% stake in the Stockholm-listed property company QOur a 550cClate,

Catena AB, our associate which had an outstanding year of C had

performance During 2010 Caiena sold a portfolio of properties in aten a, nad an

Norway, and since the year end it has sold the majority of its portiolio

in Sweden, with the exception of one large site in Stockholm retained outsta nd In g yea r

for its development potential Planning permission i1s being saught for Of pe rforma nce ”

approximately 1,000 residential apartments and 50,000 sq m of
commercial area and a decisian 1s expected early 1in 2012

[n the wake of this actmty, the Group received dimdends of £9 9 million
fromn Catena in the year and the carrying value of the investment at the
year end was £29 6 millon However, the market value of the Group s
shareholding based an Catena s year end share price of SEK 153 was
£50 & mullion, and this uplift of £21 0 million, or 45 pence of NAV per
CLS share 1s not reflected in the CLS balance sheet The return on
capital of our investment in Catena in 2010 was 168%

OTHER INVESTMENTS

The corporate bond portfalio 15 part of the Group s long-term
Investment strategy in parallel with the ownership of long-term
investment properties During the year dispasals of corporate bands
generated historical cost gains of £10 7 mullion, which are explained
further below Corporate bonds at the year end had a value of

£78 1 mitlion against an historical cost of £73 3 mithon There were 30
different bonds held in the portiolio, spread across four different sectors
- insurance, banks, industmals and other — and with & coupon on year
end value of 8 29% This portfolio, which 1s summarised in the table on
page 15 1s actively monitored by our 1 house team and external
advisers

Bulganan Land Development Plc an associate 1s an unguated praperty
company halding predominantly residential property assets in Bulgana
CLS owns 48 3% of the cempany, during the second half of 2010 BLD
returned capstal to the Group of £2 0 mullion, leaving the remaiming
investment held at our share of net asset value of £9 4 million Further
returns of capital are expected upon future asset sales




BUSINESS REVIEW CONTINUED

RESULTS FOR THE YEAR

HEADLINES Profit after tax of £40 1 mitlion (2009 £17 4 mullion)
generzted basic and diluted earnings per share of 127 1 pence
(2009 36 4 pence) EPRA earrings per share rose to 58 8 pence
(2009 28 0 pence) Gross property assets at 31 December 2010
were £8746 2 mitlion (2009 £813 0 miltion), bastc net assels
per share rose by 19% to 766 7 penca (2009 643 3 pence) and
EPRA net assets per share were 16% higher at 941 8 pence
(200% 8125 pence)

Approximately 40% of the Group s business is conductad in
the reporiing currency of sterling, arouna 50% 1s 10 euros, and
the balance 1s In Swedish kronor Qverall as the euro was 3%
to 4% weaker than in 2009, profits and net assets were
comparatively around 2% lower as a result

EXCHANGE RATES TOTHE £

EUR SEK
At 31 December 2008 104561 11 4474
2009 average rate 11233 119290
At 31 Decenber 2009 11275 11 5689
2040 average rale 114643 111221
At 31 December 2010 1 1664 10 4828

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME In summary
profit before tax in the year ended 31 December 2010 of
£70 ¢ million (2009 £18 5 mullion} comprised a surplus on
revaluation of investment properties of £30 T mithon (2009
deficit of £6 7 million) a share of profits ot associates of

£7 7 million (2009 £2 5 million), gains on disposals of
corporate bonds and other invesiments of £9 3 mutlion (2009
£1 9 mitlion}, a net negative movement in the fair value of
dervatives of £3 1 million (2009 gain of £6 3 millicn), and a
profit from the underlysng property portfolio of £26 2 million
(2009 €14 5 million)

Rental income for 2010 was £42 1 rmullion, an increase of

£1 5 mullion or 2 5% over 2009 Additiens sn France and Londen
contributed £2 8 rmilion of new rent, and developments in
Germany a further £0 8 millon However, other factors partially
countered these rises the wezkness of the euro reduced
rents by £G4 6 millian, a one-off termination recespt intlated
rents in 2009 and a significantly over-rented lease came to
an end 1n 2009 with the space let at a market level for 2010

In total, Group revenue less costs of £48 8 million was
£2 8 million higher than in 2009 largely due to the higher
rental income

The net surplus on revaluation ot investment properties In
the year was £30 1 million {2009 dehicat of £6 7 million)

£17 8 million of this uplift came frem the French portiolio
with an underlying gain of 7 5% in local currency, £8 2 million
was ram Germany s & 2% like-for-like uplift and £4 8 million
reflected 2 1 3% rise in London Our sole direct property
investment in Sweden fell in value by €0 7 million, or 1 2%
The surplus on revaluatien of iInvestment properties Is
excluded in arrving at EPRA earnings per share

12

Early in 2010, in response to a perceived shift In the nisk profite
of part of the corperate bond portfolio we moved quickly ta
liquidate around half of our investments, and in daing so
realised a gain of £10 7 mullion, which is the most significant
element of the net gain on sale of corporate bends and other
investments of £9 3 million The bond proceeds were gradually
reinvested in bonds with 3 more appropnate risk profile The
bond portfolio is a cash investment tool intended to earn
higher returns than bank deposits - 1n 2010 the return on
capital employed from the bond pertfolio was 16 3%

Net finance costs in 2010 were £25 0 milbion (2009 £255
million) Within this number, interest payable of £24 0 million
(2009 €28 5 million) was lower than the previous year due to
around half of the Group s debt benefiting from floating
interest rates which were lower than in 2009 Interest income
of £6 1 million (2009 £é 4 mitlion) was marginally lower than
last year reflecting lower levels of cash and liquid resources
Foreign exchange variances created a lower loss in 2010 of

£4 0 miltion (2009 £9 7 mithion) due to smaller foreign
exchange movements in the year, and the net effect of all of
these factors produced net finance costs before the effect of
marking derivatives to market of £21 ¢ million (2009 £31 8
million) The net loss of marking derivatives to market at

31 December 2010 was £3 1 rmullion {2009 gain of £6 3 million),
which ts excluded from EPRA earnings per share

The main drivers of the profit of assaciates after tax of

£7 7 million (2009 £2 5 million) were & profit of £9 4 million
{2009 £3 0 milbion) from our 29 9% share in Catena AB, and
aloss of £1 6 million {2009 £0 5 rmullion) from Bulgarian Land
Development Plc We receved £9 9 mitlion frem Catena in
dividends, and accounted for our share of the uplift in the net
assets which it retained During the year its share price
doubled on the development prospects of its property portfolio
Consequently, as mentioned above the value of our shares in
Catena exceeded its book value by £21 0 mitlion, or 45 pence
per CLS share of unbooked net asset value Bulgaran Land
Development delisted from AIM in 2010 and set itself the goal
of iquidating its assets in &n orderly manner As a first stage,
it returned to us £2 0 million by means of a tender offer buy-
back which, together with the loss mentioned above and a
foreign exchange movement, reduced our carrying value of
BLD to £9 4 miullicn (2009 £13 5 mullion)

Once again this year the current tax charge was significantly
below the weighted average rate af tax in the countnies in
which we do business Qur French operation was the only part
of the Group which paid tax The Group recognises a deferred
iax asset in respect of brought forward and current year
losses in cartain junisdictions These losses will be eroded as
future taxable profits are generated The tax charge also
cantains a deferred tax charge of £6 4 mullion (2009 credit of
£1 0 million) which largely represents an adjustment required
under IFRS for the potential tax accasioned by valuation
movements on iInvestment properties
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In April 2010, £6 0 mithion was distributed to shareholders by means

of a tender offer buy-back of 1n 48 shares at 600 pence per share In
September a further £4 0 million was disinbuted by means of a tender
offer buy-back of 11n 74 shares at 625 pence per share, and a proposed
tender offer buy-back of 11n 46 shares at 700 pence per share to return
£7 1 milion will be put to shareholders at the annual general meeting in
April 201

EPRA NET ASSET VALUE In 2010 CLS joined the Eurapean Public Real
Estate Association ( EPRA ) and we have adopted many of 1ts reporting
metrics this year for the first time At 31 December 2010, EPRA net
assets per share (a diluted measure which highlights the fair value of
the business on a long-term basis) were %41 8 pence (200% 8125
pence), a rise of 16%, or 129 3 pence per share The main reason for the
increase was profit after tax which added 125 1 pence The two tender
offer buy-backs in the year added 4 8 pence per share and fair value
movemenls on corporate bonds and listed investments added a further
6 7 pence, against this exchange rate variances reduced adjusted nat
assets per share by 5 9 pence, and the 1ssue of shares from treasury
shares and the granting of share options reduced EPRA NAV by 3 4
pence

At 31 December 2010, EPRA trniple net assets per share (a dilutad
measure which discloses net assets per share on a true fair value
basis) were 707 2 pence {2009 591 0 pence), a rise of 20% or

114 2 pence per share

CASH FLOW, NET DEBT AND GEARING At 31 December 2010, the
Group s cash balances of £48 3 million were £22 0 mitlion lower than
twelve months prevtously, mainly due to property acquisitions and other
capitzl expenditure of £42 ¢ mitlion and distributions to shareholders

of £10 1 million exceeding the cash inflow from operating actmties of
£31 3 million

Gross debt of £589 3 million was at a simular level to the £592 8 milbon
of twelve months earlier In practice, €100 é rmitlion of leans were repaid
or refinanced in the ordinary course of business and £102 7 million of
new loans drawn £21 5 millian was raised te finance the acquisitians of
Apex Tower in New Maiden and Rue Pierre Vallette in Pans, £0 9 million
to finance developments in Germany, and £80 3 millien was drawn
under refinancing Financing activities In the year attracted costs of

€1 1 mullien in aggregate In additton £1 0 million of interest was added
ta the principal cutstanding en a zero-coupon hend £1 0 mullion of loan
1ssue costs were amortised, and the effect of translating euro-denominated
loans into sterling at an exchange rate 3 3% different from twelve months
earlier reduced the sterling value of overseas loans by £6 5 million

Adjusted net geaning was 123 3% at 31 December 2010 and the
wetghted average loan-to-value on borrowings against properties was
63 5% Adjusted solidity was 41 2% (2009 38 4%)

The weighted average cost of debt at 31 December 2010 of 4 3%, whilst
still one of the lowest in the property sector, was marginally higher than
the 4 0% twelve months earlier due marnly to the increase in floating
rates between the two dates In 2010, with a rise in net rental income
and higher profits from associates, together with lower borrowing costs,
recurring Interest cover rose to a comfortable 3 2 times (2009 2 1 times)

CLS Holdings plc

Annual Report & Accounts
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BUSINESS REVIEW CONTINUED

DEBT PROFILE BY MATURITY

Over 5 years Within 4 year

£170 2m £85 8m

1t02
3to5S years
years £127 4m
£208 ¥m

INTEREST RATE RISK ON BEBT

Unhedged
£€931m

Fixed rate
£273 5m

Capped
€225 7m

FINANCING STRATEGY The Group s strategy Is to hold its investments
predominantly in spacial-purpose vehicles financed primarily by nan-
recourse bank debt in the currency used to purchase the asset In this
way credit and liguidity risk can most easily be managed, around 70%
of the Group s exposure to foreign currency Is naturally hedged, and
the mast efficient use can he made of the Group s assets Bank debt
ordinarily attracts covenants on loan-to-value and on interest and debt
service cover None of the Group s debt was in breach of covenants at
31 December 2010 The Group had 54 loans across the portfalio from
20 banks None of the loans at 31 December 2010 had bean securitised
by any lender, and the Group had no exposure to the CMBS market

To the extent that Group borrowings are not at fixed rates, the Group s
exposure to interest rate risk 1s mitigated by the use of financial
derivatives, particularly interest rate swaps and caps At 31 December
2010, the weighted average tenure for derwvatives against floating rate
euro loans was 1 0 year This relatively short unexpired term reflected
the expiry of a number of derwatives 1n January and April 2011
Consequently in late 2010 the Group entered into £132 2 million of
interest rate caps with forward start dates to supersede the expiring
swaps and caps The impact of these transactions was to produce as at
30 April 2011 2 pro forma welghted average tenure for euro derivatives
of 4 1 years, with an average cap rate of 32% In total in 2010, In
accordance with the Grougp s strategy to mitigate its interest rate risk at
a time of rising rates, we entered into derivatives with a nominal value
of £209 4 millan

At 31 December 2010, the Group had fixed rate borrowings of £273 5
mitlien, and floating rate borrowings of £318 8 million, of the latter,
£225 7 million were subject to interest rate caps The effect of the
interest rate caps with forward siart dates will be that at 30 Apnil 2011,
£244 7 million of our debt wilt be covered by interest rate caps, of which
£181 7 million will be capped at 2 5% for over four years

SHARE CAPITAL At 1 January 2010, there were 53,024,256 shares in
1ssue of which 5 000 00G were held as treasury shares On 11 March
2010, 207,000 treasury shares, and 300 000 share options were 1ssued
On 14 April under the tender offer huy-back 1,004,817 shares were
cancelled in exchange for £6 0 rullion distributed to shareholders

and on 14 September under the tender offer buy-back, 638,195 shares
were cancelled in exchange for £4 0 million distributed to sharehalders
There were no other changes to share capital 1n the year and at

31 December 2010 44 588 244 shares were listed on the London

Stock Exchange, and 4,793,000 shares remained in Treasury

The Directors interned to put to the Annuat General Meeting of the
Company wn April 2011 2 propasal to 1ssue a tender offer to huy-back
11n 46 shares at 700 pence per share |f approved by shareholders this
could lead to the purchase and cancellation of 1 012,787 shares, and a
distribution to shareholders of £7 % rmillion
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TOTAL RETURNS TO SHAREHOLDERS
TOTAL SHAREHOLDER RETURN OF LISTED

in addition to the distributians associated with the tender offer PROPERTY SECTOR COMPANIES 2008-2010
buy-backs, shareholders benefited from a nse in the share
price n the year from 498 8 pence on 31 December 2009 to 0% g

534 5 pence at 31 December 2010 Accordingly, the total
shareholder return in 2010 was 7 7% In the three years to
31 December 2010 our total shareholder return of 52% % F UU
placed us in the tap three performers in the listed property s | DD

-a
sector and in the ten years ended on the same date our | DHHHHH

40%

return of 247%, did the same
40% [
Since the Company listed on the London Stack Exchange, 1t

has outperformed the FTSE Reat Estate and FTSE All Share oo r
indices, as set out in the graph on page 34 gos |
100% L
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS Source Blsumbery CLS

Our performance against our key performance indicatars is
set out on page 2

CORPORATE BOND PORTFQOLIO
Al 31 December 2010

Buitding
Sector Banking Insurance Societies Financiais Qther Tatal
Value £23 8m £232m £81m £59m £15 1m £78 im
Coupan yield 10 0% 7 6% 8 0% 7 0% 71% 83%
Issuers Lloyds Legai & General Nationwide Aberdeen AM TUl
RBS Prudential Yarkshire Fendersan Carral Finans
Commerzbank AXA Man Group FS Funding (1S5)
Oresdner Scottish Widows Euroclear HeidelbergCermant
BPCE Swiss Life PA Resources
KBC Otd Mutual Renewaole Energy Corp
SNS Bank Storehrand
Swedbznk

CORPORATE BOND PORTFOLIO BY SECTOR

Other -
£151m P

Banking
£25 8m

Financials
£5 9m
Building
Societies
£81m

Insurance
£232m




PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

There arz 8 number of patential risks and uncertainties which could have @ matenal impact on the Group s performance and
could cause the results to differ matenally from expected or hustoricat results The management and mitigaticn of these risks

are the responsibility of the Board
Rish

Mitigation

Property investment risks

Underperformance of investment portfolic impacting
on financial perfermance due {o

+  Cycbeal downturn in property markst

+ Inapproprate buy/sell/hold decisions

Senior management has detailad knowledge of core markets and
experience gained through many market cycles This experience 1s
supolemented by extarnal acwisers and financial mogels used In
captal allocation decision-making

= Changes in supply of space and/or tanant demand
affecting rents and vacancies

The Graup s property portiobo is diversified across four countries
The weighled-average vnexpired lease term 1s 8 4 years and the
Group s largest tenant concentration s with the Government sactor
(40 8 per cent)

« Poor asset management

Praperty teamns proactively manage tenants to ensurs changing neecs
are met, and review the current status of all oropertias weekly Written
reports are subrmitted bi-weekly to senior management an inter alia
vacancies, lease expiry profiles and progress on rent reviews

Other investment risks
Underperformance of corporate band partfolio

In assesstng potential investments the Treasury departmeant
undertakes research on the band and its 1ssuer saeks thire-party
adwice and recewves legal advice on the terms of tha band, where
appropriate The Treasury department recaives updates on bond price
mcverents and third party market analysis on a daily basis anc
reports on carporate bonds ta the Board on a bi-weekly basis

Funding risks
Unavailability of financing at acceptable prices

The Group has a dedicated Treasury department and relationships are
mzintained with appraximately 20 banks thus recucing credit anc
liquidity risk The expesure on re-financing debt 1s mitigated by the
tack of concentration in maturities

Adverse interest rate movements

The Group s exposure to changes In prevailing market rates is largely
hedged on existing cabt through interest rate swaes and caps, or by
borrowing at fixed rates

Breach of borrowing covenants

Financial covenants are monitored by the Treasury department and
reqularly reparted to the Board

Forelgn currency exaasure

Property investments are partially fundeo in matching currency The
difference cetwean the value of the proserty and the amount of the
ftnancing 15 generally unhedged and monitored on an ongoing basis

Taxation rsks
The risk that there will be increases in tax rates or changes
to the basis of taxation

The Group monitors legislative proposals ang consults external
adwvisors to undersiand and mitigate the effects of any such change

Going concern

The risk that given the economic uncertainties the Group
will not have adequata working capitzl ta remain a going
concern for the next 12 months

See page 24
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RENTAL DATA
Gross rental Net rental Contracted Contracted Vacancy
income far income for Lettable rent at ERVat rent subject rate at
the year the year space year end yearend  toindexation year end
£m £€m sqm £m £m £m %
Lendon 245 237 127,759 260 255 40 4 7%
France 178 176 96,479 187 183 187 346%
Germany 143 140 137.971 141 145 141 55%
Sweden ts 44 49,533 62 55 62 20%
621 59.7 407,742 650 418 430 4.3%
Note a further £3 é milion of London contracted rent will be subject to annual indexation from 2015
VALUATION DATA
Valuation movement in the year
EPRA True
Market value Fareign Net toppedupnet equivalent
of property Undertying exchange iitial yield®  ymitial yield? Reversion Over-rented yteld
£m m £m % % % % %
Lendan 3750 L8 - 6 8% 6 4% 3%% 10 8% 4 8%
France 2487 178 (74) 7 5% 7 0% 2 0% 8 5% 70%
Germany 1965 82 (6 &) 7% 6 7% 30% 3 7% 4 0%
Sweden 5467 (V)] 54 8 6% 81% 30% 16 2% 8 7%
876 9 301 (8 4) 72% 6 8% 31% 9 6%

(1) Based on contracted rent and before adding purchasers costs to investment property values If based on passing rent netinitial yield would be 7 1%
(2) Based on contracted rent and after adding purchasers costs lo investment property values if based on passing rent EPRA net iritial yield would be & 7%

LLEASE DATA
Average lease length Passing rent of leases expiring in ERY of leases expring in
Year After Year After
Tobreak  Toexpiry Year 1 Year 2 3tab year § Year 1 Year 2 3tab year 5
years years £€m £m £m £m £€m Em £€m £m
Lendon 96 101 a7 67 4 4 202 a7 a7 47 180
France 31 59 18 0é 38 128 14 aé 33 123
Germany §3 94 04 08 31 746 0é 08 Ji 93
Sweden 56 54 a1 a1 44 146 01 013 3é 17
73 84 32 22 154 44,2 28 22 14.7 413
RENT BY LEASE LENGTH RENT BY SECTOR
:a:lc;nt QOther
Over 10 years 19 0% Government
26 4% Finance 40 8%

4 1%

Manufacturing

b6 4%

Business
services
17 3%




SCHEDULE OF GROUP PROPERTIES

LONDON

at 31 December 2010 Tenure Areasqm Use

London EC4

Clfford s Inn, Fetter Lane Freehold 3042 Offices

Londan SE1

Westminster Tower, 3 Albert Embankment Freehaold 4,481 Offices

Fielden House 28/42 Landon Bridge Street” Freehold 793 Qffices

London SWé

Quayside, William Morris Way Freehotd 3045 Offices

London SW8

Cap Gemini House, 95 Wandsworth Rd & 72/78 Bondway & 22 Miles Street Freehald 10,427 Offices/Industrial

80/84 Bondway Freehald 1,634 Offices

101/103/107 Wandsworth Road Freehald 488 Residential

18/20 Miles Street Freehald 152 Qffices

London SE11

Spring Gardens Tinworth Street Freehold 19,478 QOffices

Spring Gardens Court, 79 Vauxhall Walk Leasehold 115 Residential

2/10 Tinworth Street Freehald 1,263 Offices/Industrial

16 Tinworth Street Freehotd 218 Industrial

92/98 Vauxhall Walk Freehold 97 Offices

100 Vauxhall Walk Freehald 1533 Community Centre

108 Vauxhall Walk Frechald 600 Car parking

110 Vauxhalt Walk Freehaold 790 Industral

Western House, 5 Glasshouse Walk Freehold 631 Offices

15 Albert Embankment Freehald 527 lLetsure

London WC1

214/234 Grays Inn Road Freehold 26,295 Offices

London WC2

Ingram House, 13/15 John Adam Street Freehold 1,307 Offices/Residential

Londan NW10

Chancel House, Neasden Lane Freehold 5,940 Offices

London Wé

Cambridge House, 100 Cambridge Grove Freehold 6,697 Offices

London W10

Buspace 5Studios, 10 Canlan Street Freehold 3004 Studios/Workshaps/
Offices

Brentford

Great West House Grest West Road TwW8 Freehold 14,433 Offices

New Malden

Cl Tower, High Street, K73 Freehold 7,597 Qffices

Apex Tower, High Street, KT3 Freehold 10,217 Offices/Retail

Ipswich

Zest Nightclub Princes Street, IP1 Freehold 1,951 Letsure

Investment properties 127,759

Owner-accupled

94 Bondway, SW8 Freehold 891 Offtces

128,650

* Share of joint venture
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at 31 December 2010 Tepure Areasqm Use
Paris
48 Rue Croix des Petits Champs, 75001 Freehold 1,800 Offices
20/22 Rue des Pelits Hétels, 75010 Freehotd 2,00 Offices
18 Rue Stephenson 75018 Freehald 538 Offices
Le Sully, lLat 2, Rue Georges Bizet, 78200 Mantes la Jolie Freehold 2,798 Offices
95/97 Bis Rue de Bellevue 92100 Boulogne Freehaotd 2,477 Offices
16 Rue de Solferino 92100 Boulegne Freehold 1,046 Offices
58 Avenue General Leclerc, 2100 Boulogne Freehold 525 Offices
Le Quatwor, 148 Avenue Jean Jaures, 92120 Montrouge Freehald 5,003 Offices
2 Rue Pierre Timbaud, 92230 Gennevitliers Freehaold 3,118 Offices
23/27 Rue Pierre Valette, 92240 Malakoff Freehald 10,776 Offices
Le Sigma, Place de Belgique 90 Bld de LEurope, $2250 La Garenne-Colombes Freehold 6 599 Offices
Le Debussy, 77/81 Boulevard de la Republique, 92250 (2 Garenne-Colombes Freehotd 4,197 Offices
62 Avenue Foch, 92250 la Garenne-Colombes Freehold 181 Offices
120 Rue Jean Jaures, 2300 Levallais Perrel Freehotd 4,219 Offices
54 Boulevard de la Mission Marchand, 92400 Courbevoie Freehold 2,784 Dffices
53/55 Rue du Capitaine Guynemer, $2400 Courbevoie Freehaold 21N Offices
7 Rue Eugene et Armand Peugeot, 92500 Rueil-Malmaison Freehold 7,357 Offices
Lyon
Forum, 27/33 Rue Maunce Flandin 49003 Freehold 4837 Offices
B Aubigny, 27 Rue de la Villette, 69003 Leasehold 4,315 Offices
Rhéne Alpes, 235 Cours Lafayette, 69006 Freehold 3,142 Offices
Park Avenue 81 Boulevard de Stalingrad Villeurbanne, 69100 Freehold 4 248 Offices
Frant de Parc, 109 Boulevard de Stalingrad, 49100 Leasehold 5,223 Offices
Lille
96 Rue Nationale, 59000 Freehold ' 2 644 Offices
La Madeleine, 105 Avenue de la Republique, 59110 Freehold 4,445 Offices
Antibes
Le Chorus, 2203 Chemin de St Claude, Nova Antipolis 06400 Freehald 4335 Offices
Luxembourg
16 Rue Eugene Ruppert, L2453 Freehold 3 498 Offices
96,47¢




SCHEDULE OF GROUP PROPERTIES CONTINUED

GERMANY

at 31 December 2010 Tenure Area sqm Usa

Munich

BrainlLAB, Kapellenstrasse 12, Feldkirchen D-85422 Freeheld 16,314 Dffices

Planegg Maximilian Forum, Lochhamer Strasse 11/15, D-82152 Freehold 13.814 Offices

Grafelfing, Lachhamer Schlag 1 Freehold & 885 Offices

Rudesheimer Strasse § D-80684 Freehold 2,587 Offices

Unterschlesssheim, Lise-Meitner-Strasse 4, D-85714 Freehald 2958 Offices

Hamburg

Fangdieckstrasse 75, 75a, b, 22547 Freehold 13,092 QOffices

Jarrestrasse 8/10, D-22303 Freehotd 5,568 Offices

Merkurring 33/35, D-22143 Freehold 5,805 Offices

Harburger Ring 33, D-21073 Freehald 3,364 Offices

Frohbasestrasse 12, D-22525 Freehold 1,993 Offices

Bertin

Rudewerchausee 12, D-12489, Adlershofer Tor Freehald 19,97 Gffices/Retail

Bismarckstrasse 105 & Leibnitzstrasse 11/13, Charlottenburg Freehold 4,045 Offices

Bochum

Hans-Bockler-Strasse 19, 44787 Freehold 24,828 Qffices

Busseldort

Schanzenstrasse 74, D-40549 Fraehold 3,095 Residential

Landshut

1 3 5Eon Allee Roider-Jackl-Strasse Freehold 10 645 Offices

Suderhastedt

Dorfstrasse 14, 25727 Freehold 1,185 Nursing home
137,9M

SWEDEN

at 31 December 2018 Tenure Areasqm Use

Vanerparken

Lasarettet No 2, 4/8, Vanerparken Vanershorgs Kemmun Freehold 45,633 Offices/Education/

Residential/Leisure/
Hospital
45,533
Total Portfolio at 31 December 2010 408,633
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

for the year ended 31 December 2040

The Directars present their annual report and the sudited financial statements for the year enced 31 December 2010 The Charrmans
Statement, Business Review and Corporate Governance Reoort farm part of this report and should be read in conjunction with it

1

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities ot the Group during the year were tne investment 1n, and the development and management of, commeraial
properties in London, France, Germany and Sweden, and in cther investments

REVIEW QF BUSINESS
The graup statement of comprehensive income for the year i1s set out on page 39

A review of resutts for the year the principal nisks and uncertainties facing the Group and the prespects for the future are set out
within the Chairman s Statement, Business Review and Property Portfolio ¢n nages 4 to 20 and are incorporated into this report by
reference These also include analysis using key performance indicators and any other infarmation reguired to fulfil the
reguirements of the Businass Review

Detaits of use by the Grouo of nnancial instruments are set out In the Business Review on pages 8to 15 and 1in note 23 to the group
financial statements Risk Management objectives are also detailled in note 23

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company are set out below and changes to the camposition of the Board duning the year can be found in the
Carperate Governance Report on pages 25 and 26

The statement of Directors remuneration and their interests in shares and share options of the Campany are szt out in the Directors
Remuneration Report on pages 31 te 35 Related party transactions are shawn in nate 31

Biographiczl details of the Executive and Non-Exacutive Directors are set ou* below

Executive Directors

Sten A Mortstedt, aged 71, 1s Executive Cnairman of the Campany He began his career in 1562 with Svenska Handelshanken in
Stockholm and within three years had formed a property investment partnership In 1968 he was appointed Managing Director of
the Marstedt family property company Citadellet AB which was fleated on the Stock Exchange in Stockhalm in 1981 The company
was sold in 1985 for a price five times hugher than the introduction price and was at that time the largest preperty deal recorded in
Scandinavia

Since 1977 ne has been involved In establishing and running property interests in the UK, Swedean and France

He established CLS in 1987, and has been Executive Chairman since he teok the Company to a Listing on the main market of the
Lendon Stack Exchange in 19%4

in addition to his focus on property he nas been commercially active in @ numoer of cther investment areas He has seen a number
of the companies in which he has investec through to successful stock exchange listings or trade sales

He runs his global interests from his residence 1n Switzerland

E Henry Klotz aged 46 was anpamted Executiva Vice Chairman on 1 January 20011 having previously been Chief Executive Officer
from May 2008 Hea joined the Group in 1999 with responsibility for tha management of the Sweaish eperation and mare recently
was involved 1n the setting ue of the German division and sourcing naw business opportunities for the Group He Is a qualified
enginear and economist

On behalf of CLS he 1s alse Non-Executive Chairman of Catena AB a NMordic real estate company quoted on tne Stackhelm Steck
Exchange, in wnicn CLS helds an interest of 2% 9% He 1s also & Non-Executive Chatrman of Bulganan Land Development Ple, in
which CLS holas 48 3% and a Non-Exacutive Director of Note AB a technalogy company quetad onthe Stackholm Stock Exchange,
inwhich CLS holds an interest of 5 04%

Richard J 5 Tice aged 46, joined the Company in 2010 as Deputy Chief Executive Officer and was aponointed Chief Executive Ofncer
on 1 January 2011 He has over 20 years experience in the property sector and was Managing Partner of Tisun Cagital Partnars LLP,
a boutique firm specialising in raal estate debt From 1991 to 2006 he was joint CEO of the Sunley Group ple, prior to which he spent
four years with a listed propery developer, London Metroocolitan ple For three years until October 2009 he was a non-executive
directer and ultimately Chairman of AIM-listad Seuth African Property Opporiunities Ple

John H Whiteley aged 52 joined the Company in 200% as Chief Financial Officer He was previously Finance Officer at Qoughty
Hanson & Co Real Estate and for ten years was Finance Director of Great Portland Esiates ple a ccmpany listed on the Landon
Stock Exchange He 1s a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants and spent nine years with Ernst & Young after quabifying
as an acceuntant with Spicer & Pegler
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DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
Non-Executive Directors

Malcolm C Cooper, aged 51, joined the Board 1n 2007 anc 15 the Semor Independent Diractor and Chairman of the Audit
Commuttee He1s Global Tax & Treasury Director of National Grid ple where he has worked for various credecessor comoantes
since 1991 Previously he worked 1or Andersen Consulting He has a first in pure mathematics from Warwick University 1s a
qualified accountant and 1s a member aof the Assaciation of Corporate Treasurers

Joseph A Crawley, aged 51 |oined tha Board in 2008 and 1s @ member of the Remuneration Coemmittee He 15 Chief Executive of
Kitewood Estates Limited, a property investment and development company active in Lendon and south-east England, and has aver
20 years experience of the central Landon progerty market He was previsusly employed by CLS for a number af years and was
involvad in the davelopment of the Spring Gardens site

Christopher P Jarvis FRICS, aged 55 jeined the Board in 2008 and 1s a member of the Audit Committee He has an M A from
Cambnidge University and 1s 2 Partner of Jarvis & Partners a boutique real estate consultancy which he established in Berlinin
19%4 Previously he was Managing Director of Richard Eltis Germany where he established the firm s Frankfurt and Berlin offices
His firm has acted as development partner for the HRO Groug in Germany

H 0 Thomas Lundqvist aged é4 1s Chairman of the Remuneratien Committee and a member of the Audit Cemmittee He joinad
tha Board in November 1990 and was Finance Director of the Company until 1995 when he became a Naon-Executive Director He
was Vice Chairman from 24 November 200% until 1 January 2011 Prior to joining CLS Mr Lundgvist worked for the ASEA-Brown
Boveri Group (ABB) anc fram 1983 for Svenska Finans Internaional pari of Svenska Handelsbanken Group where he was a board
memaar

Jennica Mortstedt, aged 27, jeined the Board in May 2010 and 15 the daughter of Bengt Mortstedt a founding member and major
shareholder in the Company She has eight years experience In the hotel industry and has a degree in International Business and
Hoscitality from Ecole Hotaliere de Lausanne, Switzerland

Thomas J Thomson aged 60 joined tha Board in 2001 as Executive Vice Chairman and Acting Chief Exacutive, and was made Chiaf
Executive in 2004 He became a Non-Executive Directar in 2006 and served as Non-Executive Vice Chairman from 2006 to 2009 and
Company Secretary from 1983 to 2001 and fram 2008 to 2009 He s 2 qualified solicitor and |oined the Group as General Counsel in
1994 having been a partner with Taylor Walton Soliciiors for many years

As explained in the Corporate Governance Report on page 26 all directors will now retire annually Mr Tice and Miss Mortstedt
were appointed since the last Annual General Meeting and, baing eligiole, will stand for electian

The Executive Chairman recommencs the re-election of the retiring Directors and the election of the Directors tha. hac keen
appointed since the last Annual General Meeting, given their cerformance and continued important contribution ta the Cempany
The Seniar Incependent Directar recommends the re-election of the Executive Chasrman

DIVIDENDS

In izu of paying cash dividends it 1s the Company s current policy ta make distributions by way of tender offer buy-backs The
Company reinstated its tender buy back pregramme in 2010 following the uncertain economic climate 1n 2009

Dunng the year a first tender cifar was made oy way of a Circular dated 23 March 2010 for the purchase of 11n 48 shares at 400 pence
per share and was comgleted on 14 April 2010 It returned £4 O million ta shareholcers, ecuivalent to 12 5 pence per share

The second tender offer was made by way of a Circular dated 1% August 2010 far the purchase of 11n 72 shares at 425 pence per
shara and was completad on 14 September 2010 It returnad £4 0 mullion to sharsholders equivalent ta 8 45 pence per share

A tender offer will be put to sharehclders in Apnl 2011 for the purchase ot 110 44 shares at 2 price of 700 pence par share which,
if aporevec, will return a further £7 1 million to sharebolders equivalent to 15 2 pence per share

PURCHASE OF THE COMPANY'S SHARES

As cescribed abave duning the year the Company mace two tendar ofter purchases totalling 1 43,012 ordinary shares at a cast
of £10 0 mullion Of tnese, 1,004,817 ardinary shares were purchased on 14 Apnil 2010 at 600 pence per share and ¢38 195 ordinary
shares were purchased an 14 September 2010 at 623 pence per share All shares purchasec were subsequently cancelled The
Company cid nat make any market purchases of its own shares during the year

The Directars will continua to keep under review whather to make tender offer purchases so long as thay are in the best interests
of shareholders given the cash resources of the Cempany and the discount of the market price of the Company s shares to 1ts net
assetvalue

A resolution will o2 proposed at the Annual General Meeting ta give the Cempany zuthonty to make market purchases of up to
4 658 824 shares along with an add:ional resclution to undartake tender offer purchases annually, subject to set parameaters,
enabling the Company to reduce the administrative burden on sharenclders in having to hold General Maetings twice yearly
Any market purchases or tencer offer purchases during the year will not exceed 4,658,824 snizres in aggregate




Report of the Directors Property Portfolio Gavernance Financial Statements CLS Holdmgs ple

11

12

13

14

15

Annual Rercort & Accounts

SHARE CAPITAL

Changes In share capital are shown in note 24 of th2 notes to the group financial staternents At 31 December 2010, and at the date
of this report the Company s issued share capitzal consisted of 51 381 244 ordinary shares of 25 pence gach of which 4 793 000
shares were held as ireasury snares anc zll of wnich ranked pari passu During the year 207,000 treasury shares were 1ssved at a
price of 482 5 pence per share

At the date of this report the totat number o/ voting rights tn CLS Holdings plc 1s 44 588 244 being the numoer of sharas in 1ssue
excluding treasury shares The nghts (including full details relating to voting) obligations and any restrictions on transfer relating
to the Company s snares as well as the powers of the Directors are set out In the Company s Articles of Association

At 31 Decernber 2010 the Campany operated two employee share schemes the 2005 Company Share Optien Plan (CSOP) (an inland
Revenue Approved Scheme) and the Company s Unapproved Share Option Scheme There were options over 300 000 ardinary
shares outstanding under these schemes at the year end and as at the date of this repart (2009 none) Upen any change of cantrol
optior holders under these schemes have directly exarcisakble rights Details of cutstanding options under these scniemes are
shown on page 34 of the Remuneration Resort

Details of the Diractors interests 1n shares ara shown In the Remuneration Repert on page 35

PROPERTY PORTFOLIO

Avaluation of atl the propertias in the Group as at 31 December 2010 was carnied out by Lambert Smith Hamptan for London,
Jones Lang Lasalle far France Collters International wor Germany, and CBRE for Sweden, which produced an aggregate market
value of £8748 ¢ mitlion (2009 £813 0 mitlion)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Corporate Governance Staternent prepared in accardance with rule 7 2 of the FSAs Disclosure and Transparency Rules, can be
found on pages 25 to 30 and forms part of this report

EMPLOYEES, ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL ISSUES

The Grour s oolicies on employment, enviranmental ane social 1ssues, including chanitacle donations are summarisaa in the
Corporate Responsibility Report an pages 36 and 37 No political donations were made during 2018

INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND INDEMNITIES

The Company has arranged insurance cover in raspect of legal action against its directors and officers The Company has granted
indemnities to each of the Directors and other senior management uncapped in amount but subject ta apolicable law in relation to
certain losses and liabuilities which they may incur in the course of acting as directors or emgployees of the Company ar one er more
of Its subsidiaries or assoclates

SUPPLIER PAYMENT POLICY

The Grouo agress payment terms with its suppliers whean it enters into binding purchase contracts and seeks to comply with the
payment terms whenever 1t 15 satisfied that the supplier has provided the goees or seriices in accordance with tne agreed terms
and cendittans At the year end Group trade crediiors ware owed tne equivalent of 21 days purchases based on the year as a whole
(2005 23 days) The Campany had no trade crecitors (2009 nil)

AUDITOR

A resclution to reappaint Oeloitte LLP as auditor to the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting

2011 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2011 Annual General Meeting will be held on Monday 18 April 2011 The notice of meating including exalanatory neies for the
resclutions to be croposed will be postec to shareholders

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

There were no reportable events after the calance sneet date

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TQ THE AUCITOR
Each Direcior has contirmed at ihe date of tnis report that
¢ safar as they are aware, there I1s no relevant audit informatian 0. which the Group auditors 15 unaware and

= they have taken all the steps that they cught to have takan as a Director in arder to make themselves aware of any relevant
audit iInformatian and to es.anlish that the Greup s auditor 1s aware of that information

Thts conftrmatton 1s given ana should be interpratea in accarcance with the prowisions o s418 of the Companies Act 2006
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GOING CONCERN

The current economic canditions nave created & number of uncertainties as set out on page 15 The Grouo s business activities,
tagether with the factors likely to affect its future oevelopment and performance are set cut in the Business Review on pages 8 to
15 The financial position of the Group, 1ts bquidity positien and oorrowing facilities are described in he Business Review and 1n
notes 22 and 23 of the financial statements

The Directors regularly stress-test the businegss model to ensure that the Group has sdeguate werking capital and have raviewed
the curren- anc projectea financial positions of the Groun taking into account the repayment profile of the Group s loan partiolic
and making reasonable assumptions about future trading performance The Directors have a reascnable expectation that the
Company and the Group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and, therefore,
they cantinue to adopt the going concern basis 1n preparing the annual report and accounts

The Directors Report was approved by the Board on 7 March 2011

By order of the Board

David Fuller BA
Company Secretary

7 March 2011
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

1 INTRODUCTION

The principal carporate governanca rules which appliad to UK cornpanies listed on the London Stack Exchange I1n tne year undar
review were those set out in tne Comeined Code an Corporate Governance as updated by the Financial Reparting Ceunail { FRC }in
June 2008 (the Code ) the UK Financial Services Authenity { FSA ) Listing Rules and the FSAs Disclosura and Transparency Rules

The Board has overall responsibility for corporate governance and 1s accountable to the Campany s shareholdars for good
governance Itis committed tc achieving a high standard of corporata governance which test fits the Company, as this contributes
to better company performance by assisting the Boaro to discharge its duties in the best interests of shareholders

The Board fully suppor's tha principles of good governance as set cut in the Code, which 1s sublicly svailable on the FRC s website
(www frc org uk)

Cn 1 January 2011, the UK Corporate Governznce Code (the New Code ) replaced the Code as the applicable source of cerporate
governance recammendations for the Company The New Code contains a number of additional requirements applicable to FTSE
350 companies and, whilst at the date of this report the Company is not a constituent of the FTSE 350, the Board intends to adopt a
number of these new requirements, as explained below

Save as identified and explaimed below, the Board considers that throughou- 2010 1t complied with the Main Principles and the
supparting princioles as set out in Sectien 1 of the Code

2  THEBOARD
The Board comprises four Executive Directars, incluging the Executive Chairman, and six Non-Executive Directors
Their blographies can be found on pages 21 and 22

On 11 May 2010, Richara Tice the Company s Deputy Chief Executive Officer, was appointad to the Board Jennica Mortstedt was
appointed as a Non-Executive Director and Bengt Mortstadt stepped down as a Non-Executive Director

On ¢ Novernber 2010 1t was announced that as from 1 January 2611 Richard Tice would be appainted Chief Execumive Officer and
Henry Klatz would become Executive Vice Chairman Also fraom 1 January 2011 Tnomas Lundgwist would step down as Vice Chairman
but remain a Non-Executive Director Since 1 January 2011, there have been no other changes te the compositicn of the Board

Guidance ta the Code recommends that for FTSE 350 campanies at least half the Board should camonse independent Non-Executive
Directors Given that in the year under review the Company was not a constituent of the FTSE 350 # was not 1n breach of provision
A3 2 =urther the Board believes that it nas demonstrated a proven track record of success which has besn beneficial to sharehotders
notwithstanding the financial uncertainly affecting property companies over the past threa years During that period tha Comoany
genarated a total shareholder return of 51 6 par cent cone of the highest returns amongst its peer group of listad praparty companies

The Board undersiands the neea for Indesendent non-executive cirectors to challenge the views of \he executive team and
contribute to the Company s overall strategy |t considers its current independent Non-Executive Directors fulfilled this role
exceptionally well It has determinad that Malcolm Cooper and Christopher Jarvis wera independent in character and judgement
and that there were no relationships or circumstances which could materally affect or interfere with the exercise of their
independent jJudgemeant Mr Cooover s the Senior indeoendent Director and he 15 available to sharzsholders who do not wish to
approach the Chairman, the Vice Chairman ar tne Chief Executive Officer about a Company matter

The Board has determined that under the Code Guicance, four Non-Executive Directors, Joseph Crawley, Thomas Lundguist,
Jennica Mortstedt and Thomas Thamsen were not independent Mr Lundquist had served on the Beard for more than nine years
Miss Mortstedi was the niece of the Executive Charrman anc Mr Lundgvist was the Vice Chairman of the Sten Mortstect Family and
Charity Trust Mr Crawlay had a close family tie with the Execulive Chairman by way of marriage Mr Thamson had been an
employee aof the Group within the last five years Nevertheless the Board was satisfiad with the axperience expertise and
performance of each soard member, they continue to acd signinicant value to tne oceration of the Company tnrouch their
comoined knowladge and experniznce and exercise cbjectivity In decision-making and proper control of the Cempany s business

During the year tne Board uncertook a performance evaluation survey led by the Senior Indepandent Diractor, with assistance
from the Campany Secretary Given the ccmpaosition of the Board this was ceemed the most appropriate way to conduct the
performance avaluation The results highlighted areas in which the Board felt performance could be improved for examzgle it
wanted to have mere interaction with staft at all levels Following discussion it was decided that the results of the performance
evaluation should became the Board s cbjectives for the corming year The Board has considered provision B & 2 of the New Code
and has concluded that cue to the cost of compliance and the current struciuvre of the Board 1t will not, at the present tme
implement the requirement to have a Board evaluation survey performed by an extarnal facilitator every three years but will
continue to undertake an annual perfermance evaluation survey internally As the Company 1s net a consutuent of the FTSE 350,
it 1s not in breach of this provisicn

Buring the year tne Chairman conferred with the Non-Executive Directors without the other Sxeczutive Diractors prasant A formal
meeting of the Non-Executives took place during the year without the Executive Directers or the Chairman present at which a
tharough review of the performance of the Executive Chairman teok place The Non-Executive Dirzctors also reviewed the
compositicn of -he Board and censiaaraa “nat whilst the currant Non-Executive Directors futfil tneir role a further independent
Nan-Executive Director would be beneficial although na surtable canaidate has yet been found
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THE BOARD {CONTINUED)

Under the Articles of Association, which can be amended by a specizgl resolution of the shareholders the Board has the power to
appomnt directors and whare notica 1s given signad by all the other directors to remaove a director from effice All Diractors are
subject ta election by shareholders at tne first Annual General Mezating fetlowing thair appointment The Board will implement
provision 8 7 1 of the New Code by requiring all directors to seek re-election oy shareholders annuslly baginning at the 2031
Annual General Mezting, notwithstanding that the Cempany 1s nat a constituent of tna FTSE 350

Non-Executive Directors are eppaintec for a specific term of office which provides for their removal in certain circumstances
including under section 1468 cf the Campanies Act 2006 The terms af appointment of the Nan-Executive Directors can be obtained
by request to the Company Secretary All Directors will be seeking ra-election at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and therr
details are contained in the Directors Repart on page 22

Activities of the Board

The Board met four imes during the year It s respensible to the shareholders of the Company for the strategy and future
development of the Group and the management of its resources The Board s primary abjective 1s to focus on acding value to the
assats of the Group by identifying and assessing business oppartunities as they arise and ensuring that associated potential risks
are 1dentfied, monitored and conwrotled The Board has a formal schadule of matters specifically reserved to it for decision, which
1s reviewed annually and was last rewsed in Novermnoer 2010 Matters reserved far Board decisions include strategic long-term
objecrives and the caomital structure of majer transactions The implementation of Board decisions and day-to-day cperations of the
Group are delegated to the Exacutive Directors

Directors are able to obtain independent professional advice at the Campany s expense and have access to the services of the
Company Secretary They are given appropriate tramning and assistance on appointment to the Board and tater, if and when
recuiras During the year, memzers of the Board have attended seminars on various tepics, inclucing executive remuneration and
the respansitilities o1 cirectors

Board members are given apgropriate documentation in advance of sach Board and Committee mezting and senior executives
batow Board level attend Board meaetings to presant and discuss their areas of speciality In making cemmercial assessments the
Directors review detailed plans including financizl viability reports which, among other things, detall the impact of proposals in
respect of return on capital return an cash and the Tikely impact on the Income statement, cash flows and geanng

Stratagy s determinad after having ta%en due regard of relevant forecasts and domastic and international developmeants The
views of shareholders are soaught by the Executive Directers and are reported back to the Board The Board is also appraised of tne
views of shareholders analysts and potential investors by the Company s advisers

This year, as nart If its strategic review, the Board decided to imglemant a new Invastor Relations programme aimed at increasing
tha Company s prefile and reducing the share price discount to net assat value The Board (s pleased with the proegress it has made
against this stratagy so far

Group and dvisionat performance, pudgets and quarterly financial forecasts including net assets and cash flow projectiens are
formally reviewed by the Board on a quarterly basis In addition the Executive Directors monitor cash flows weekly

The Comgany s Articles of Assaciation contain procedures to deal with Directars conflicts of interest The Board considers that
thesa have operated effectively during the year

Tne attenoance of Directors at meetings curing the year 13 set cut below

Audit Remuneration

Boarc Committze Committee
Numzer of meetings held 4 3 2
Sten Maortstect 4fh - -
Henry Klotz afa - -
Richard Tice ™ 373 - -
John Whiteley 414 - -
Thomas Lundgwist 414 3/3 2/2
Matcolm Cooper 414 3/3 -
Jeseph Crawley af4 - 2/2
Christopher Jarvis 4/L 33 -
Bengi Mortstedt @ ifi - -
Jennica Mortstedt (" 33 - -
Thomas Thomson 4f4 - -

{r) Appointed to the Board an 11 May 2010
(2} Retred from the Board an 11 May 2010

In addition to attending Board mesgtings, senior management meet regularly to discuss management 1ssues relating to the Group
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There 1s & division of responsibilities between the Executive Chairman, who is responsible for the overall stratagy of the Group, the
Executive Vice Chairman who suprorts the Executive Chairman, and the Chief Executive Officar, who 1s responsibla for implermeanting
the strategy and for the day-to-day running of the Group The Chief Executive Orficer 1s assisted by the senior management leam
The Board has anpraved a written statement of the division of responsibilities batween the Exacutive Chairman and the Chiaf
Executive Offrcer

As explained above on 1 January 2071 Henry Klotz assumed the new role of Executive Vice Chairman and Thomas Lundgwist
stepped down as Non-Exeacutive Vice Chairman but remained a Nan-Executive Director A separate statement on the division of
responsibilities between the Executive Chairman and the Executive Vice Chairman has been reviewed by the Board

The Company has arranged insurance caver in raspect of lagal action against its directors and ¢tficers The Comgany has granted
indemnities to each of the Directors and aother senior executives uncapped in ameunt but subject to appliceble law, in relation ta
certamn losses and liahilities which they may incurin the course of acting as directors or employees of the Company ar of one or
more of its subsidiaries or assoclates

The Board 1s assisied by the Audit and Remunerauon Committees the Terms of Reference for which can be obtained from tne
Caompany Secretary

3 THEAUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises Malcolm Cooper (Chawrman)}, Thomas Lundqwist and Christapher Jarvis The Board was satisiiad
that Mr Cooper and Mr Jarus were indepandant and Mr Coaper was regaraed as having recent and relevant accounting and
financial experience As Mr Lundquist was deemed not to be independent, the Boarag noted that the composition of the Commitiee
did not camply with the recommendation contained in C 3 1 of the Code The Cammittee cansidered that Mr Lundqvist s experiance
and detaled knowladge of the Group greatly assisted the Committee when making decistons within its remit

The Committee met three times during the year Certain senior management anc the external audvor are normally invited to at*end
the meetings

The principal duties of the Committees are to review the half yearly and annuat financial reports befera their submission to the
Board and to consider any matters raised by the auditor The Commitiee also reviews the interim Management Statements of the
Company and the independance and objectivity o/ the auditor, taking into account relevant professionat and regulatory requiraments
and the relationshig with the auditor as a wnole including the provision of any nen-audit services, for which a policy based on the
FRC s Guidance on Audit Committees (Cecember 2010) 15 1n place The terms of reference of the Committea reflect current best
practice including authority to

+ recommend the appointment, re-appointment and remaoval of the external auditor

*  ensure the ogjectivity and incdependence of the auditor including accasions when, in accordance with the specific policy non-
audit services are provided by manitaring fees and letters of engegement and

* ensure appropriate whistle-blowing arrangements zre in place

During the year the Commuttee formally reviewed the annual financial report and the half yearly financial report focusing on key
areas of judgement and complexity, critical accounting policies and any changes recuirec to them Il also reviewed the audit
strategy and the findings of the external auditor from their reviaw of the half yearly financial report and their auvdit of the annusal
finanzial report In accordance with *ne Audit Cecmmittee Guidance 2008, the Commuttee reviewed and endorsed the internal
controls and risk managamenl systems of the Group

The Committee also met with the Group s valuers, Lambert Smith Hampton Colliers International and Jones Lang LaSalle
to discuss the methodology used for the bi-annual valuations of the Group s propertias

The external audit was last put out to tender in 2007 when the current auditor Deloitie LLP was appointed, and the lead audit
partner has been In place since tha ime There are no contractual obligatiens to restrict the Company s choice of externzl auditor

Due to the relatively low number of personnel employed within the Goup, the nature of the business and the current control and
review sysiams In place the Commiitee racommended and the Board decided not to establish an internal audit department

4 THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises Thomas Lundowisi {Chairman) and Joseph Crawley The Reamuneration Committee mat
formally twice during tha year cut held other informal discussions The Committee considers the employmen® and performance of
indmwidual Executive Directors and determines their terms of service and remuneration in the context of business and personal
performance [t alsc nas authority to grant options under the Company s Executive Share Option Scheme and Comgpany Share
Optian Plan, and exercisec this authenity 1in granting options to Mr Tice upon his appaintment as Deputy Chief Exacutive Officer,
further details of which can be found on page 34 of the Birectors Remuneration Report The Boarc noted that, as both Mr Lundgwist
and Mr Crawley were deemed not to be independent the Company did nat camply wath the compesition of the Committee
recommended In provision B 2 1 o1 the Code However, Mr Lundquist s experience and detallec knowledge of the Group and

Mr Crawley s experience in the real estate sector greatly assistec the Commuttee when making decisions within its remit The
Board keeps the corpositicn of the Committes under annual review Full details oi tne Commuttee s work are given in the
Remuneration Repert on pages 31 ta 35
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5 NOMINATIONS

The Board considerad the setting up of a separate Nomination Comrttee as racommencead by the Cade, but due to tne size anc
nature of the Company, the Boarc decided that this function was better carried out oy the Executive Chairman and other Directors
Non-Executive and Executive as aporopriate for each appoiniment

&  INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company has 1n place internal centrol and risk managament systems in relation to the Company s financial reporting process
and the pregaration of the Group acccunts

It1s the Company s aim te manage risk anc ic control its ausiness anc financiat affairs eccnomecally, efficiently and eifectively =0
as to be able {o exploit profitable business opportunities in a disciplined way avoid or mitigate risks that can cause loss reputational
gamage or business fallure and ennance resiliznce to external events The Board acknowledges that the Directors are responsibte
for the Group s system of internal conlrol and rnisk management and have established procedures which are designed to provide
reasonable assurance against materiat misstatement or lcss These procedureas have operatad tor the entire financtal year and up
to the date of approval of the annual financial report

The Audit Commuttee has reviewed the effectiveness of the system of internal control and risk management for the period and as
reparted to the Board, has not idantshied any significani weaknesses duning the financial year and therefore no remecial action has
been necessary The Directors recagnise that such a system can only provide a reasanable and not absolute assurance that there
has been no matenal misstatement or loss

The key elements of the process by which the systamn of internal control and risk management is monitored are as follows

Intarnal Control

The Company has an established framework for internal financial controls, which 1s regularly reviewad by the executive
management and the Aueit Commitize who update the Board on is effectivenass

The Board 15 responsible for the Cormpany s cvarall strategy for approving budgets and major property acquisitions and disposals
and fer determining the financial structure of the Group

The Audit Committee assists tne Board in the discnarge of its duties regarding the Group s financial reports anc provides a direct
link between the Boars and the axternal auditor through ragular meetings

There 1s an established organisatronal structure which has clearly defined lines of reporung and responsibility The Group has
place control processes In relatian to all aspects of 1ts financial dealings, such as the authonisation of banking transaciions, capital
expenditure and treasury investment decisions

The Groug has a comprehansive system ior budgeting and planning wheraby quarterly and annual budgeis are prepared moniiored
and reported to the Board at each meeting Three-yearly rolling cash flows are updated and distributed to the Board on a weekly
basis to ensure the Group has sufiicient cash resources for the short and medium term

Set out on pages 4 to 13 1s the descriotion of the Group s operations and the strategy which it employs to maximise returns and
minimise risks
Risks

In line wrin the revised Turnbull Guidance the risks which the Group faces are reviewed in Board and executive meetings on an
ongaing basis throughaut the financial year

Each business area maintains a process to ensure that key risks are identified, evaluated, managed and reviewed appropriataly This
process 1s also applied at Board level to major business decisions and signiricant strategy implementations Furthermore, a fortnightly
property partfolio update 1s eircutated to the Board which identifies key business nsks cevelopments and cppertunities Additianal risk
managemeni pracesses, which include health and safety and environmental risk management are employed within the businesses

The Company s key risks anc how they are mitigated are described on page 14 of the Business Review
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DIRECTORS' SHAREHOLDINGS AND MAJOR INTERESTS IN THE COMPANY S SHARES

The interests of the Directors in the share capital of tne Cempany at the beginming and end of the year are detailed in the Directors

Remuneration Report on page 35

Other than the 53 20% interest of Sten Mortstedt family referred to in nole 8 of the Directors Remuneration Report as at 7 March 2011

the Campany has been notified of the fallowing interests above 3% in the Company s 1ssued share zapital

No of shares

%

Bengt Martstedt 3 505,280
F&C Asset Management plc 2,471,388
AVl Focused Eurcpean Fund 1,423,820

752
530
304

There are no shareholders wno carry special nghts with regard to control of the Company and there are no restrictions on vating
rights The Company kricws of na agreements between holders of securities whicn would result in rasirictions on the transfer of

securities ar on voting rights

SIGNIFICANT AGREEMENTS - CHANGE OF CONTROL

A change of contral of the Company following a takeover bid may cause a number of agreements towhich the Company orits
trading subsidiaries 15 party, such as commaercial trading contracts banking arrangements property leases and licence

agreements to take eifect alter or terminate In the context of the Grouo as a whole, these agreements are nat considered to be
significant There are no agreements betwaen the Company and 1ts Directors or employees providing for campensation for loss oi

office or emoloyment that occur becavse of a change of cantrol or takeaver id

SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

The Company values its cialegue with both institutional and private investors The Board s primary contact with institutional

shareholders 1s through the Chief Executive Officer Deputy Chier Executive Officer (up to 31 December 2010) and Chief Financial
Officer, who have regular meetings with institutional shareholcers They are suppor-ed by an investor relaticns advisar and two
caroorate brokers all of whem are in regular contact with institutional and retail shareholders and sell-side analysts Ccverage of

the Company by sall-side analysis 1s airculated to the Board wnicn n turn ensures that all Diraciors cevelop an understanding of

the views of institutional shareholders

Invester seminars and analyst presentatiens including tnose following the announcement of half yearly and annual financial
results are webcast and other presentations made to institutional investors are avarlasle on the Company s website

The Groug 1ssues its annual financial repart to each af its sharehetders In accordance with *he UK company disciosure regulations

the Group does not distribute 1ts half yearly financial report to sharehelders but makes 1t avallable on its website Copies are
avatlable gn request

All press releases are also included on the Group s website at www clsholdings com an the Media Cenire, Regulatory News pagss

All snarzholders have at least 20 warking days notice of the Annual General Meeting at which all Directors wha are availatle

ta

attend are Introduced and available for questions All snareholders are wetcome {o attend the Company s Annual General Meeting

and to arrange indvidual meetings oy appointment The views received at such meetings are fed back to tna Board

PROXY VOTING

The praxy forms for the Annual General Meeting and Geners! Meatings which were held in 2010 inclucec a2 vote withhald™ box
Details of the proxies lodgad for these meeungs were announced to the Longon Siock Exchange and are on the Company s wecsite

at www clsholdings cam en the Media Centrz, "Regulatory News pages Sharsholders may alsc choose to register their voie
electronic proxy on the Company s website at www clsholdings com

JOINT VENTURE AND ASSQCIATES

by

This Carporate Governance repert apslies to the Company and its sutsidizries [t does notinclude joint ventures or associaizs
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DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES

The Directors are responsible for prepaning the Annual Report Directors Remuneration Report and the financial statements in
accordance with apolicable law and recuiations

Company law requires the Directors ta prepare financial statements for each financial year The Directors are requtred by the

IAS Regulation ta prepare the group financiat statements under thosa International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) adopted
by the European Union The group financial statements are alsc required by law {o be properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2004 and Ariicle 4 of the |AS Regulation

International Accounting Standard 1 requires that financial statements prepared under IFRS present fairly for eacn financial year
the Group s financiat positian, financial performance and cash ilows This requires the faithiul representation of the effects of
transactions, ather events, and conditions in accordance with the cefinitions and recagnition critena for assets lizbilities income
and expenses set aut in the International Accounting Standards Board s Framework for the preparation and presentation of
financial statements  Inwirtually all circumstances a fair prasentation will be achieved by cormpliance with all applicable IFRSs
However Directors are also required 1o

* properly select and apply accounting policies

s presentinformation, including accounting policies 10 a mannar which provides relavant rehiable camparable and
understandable information,

*« provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs 1s insufficient te enable users to
understand the impact oi particular transactions otner events or conditions an the entity s financial position and financial
pertermance, and

+ make an assessment of the ability of the Camnpany and of the Group to continue as a going concern

The Directors have etected ta prepare the parent company financial statements in accercance with United Kingcom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (UK Accounting Standards and applicable law) The parent cempany financial statements are
racuirec by law to give a true anc fair view of the state of affairs oi the Company In preparing these financial statements the
Duractors are required to

+ select suitable accounting palicies and apply them consistently
s make judgaments and estimates which are reasonable and crudent

s state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been fellowed subject to any matarial departures cisclosed and
explained in the financial statements, and

* prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it 1s Inappropriate to presume that the Company will
continue In business

Under company law the Diractars must not approve the financial statements unless they are satishied thal they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit and loss of the Campany for the period

The Directors confirm that to the best of their knowlecge the financial statemants comply with the above requirements

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accouniing records which are sufficient to show and explain the Company s
transactions and disctose with reasonable accuracy at any ime the financial pasition of the Company and 2nable them to ansure
that the ninancial staternents comply with the Cempanies Act 2006 They are alsc responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
Company and hence for taking reascnable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and otner irregularities

The Direciors are alse responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and hinancial information included cn the
Company s website Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination ot financial statements may
differ from legislation in other junisdictions

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

We confirm to the best of our knowledge that

« ihe financial statements, prepared in accordance with the relevant financial reperiing framewaork, give a true ana fair view of the
assets, labilities, financial pasition and profit of the Company and the undertakings included in the consotidation as a wnole and

»  the Business Review, which 1s incarporated into the Directors Report includes a fair review of the development and
periormance of the business and the positicn of the Company and the undertakings incluced in tne consobidation taken as a
whole tagether with a description of the principal nsks ang uncertainties they face

This statementpf responsibilities was acoroved by the Board an 7 March 2011

£8

&)

Caompany Secretary
7 March 2011
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT

fcr the year ended 31 December 2610

The report on remuneration of the Birectors for the year ended 31 Decemuper 2010 15 set out below and has been prepared 1n accordance
with the applicable statutory requlations

Certain sectians of this Renort are subject ta statutery audit as requirec by the Comeanies Act 2006 These secuions are indicated in the
section title No other sections have been audited
1 THE WORK OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises Thomas Lundavist {Chairman) and Joseph Crawley As explained in the Corporate
Governance Report Thamas Lundgquist and Joseph Crawley are deemed not to be independent as cefined by the Combinad Code
Mr Lunggvist s experiencs and detaited knowledge of the Group and Mr Crawley s experience Ini the rzal estate sector graztly
assists the Committee when making decisions within its remit

The remit of the Commitiee 15 to consider and recornmend to the Board
« the remunerztion of the Executive Directors, including any performance-related awards, and
*  the admimsiration of the Cempany s share optton scnemes

The Committee met farmally twice during the year out hetc other informal discussions The Committee receved adwice from the
Executive Chairman and the Group s HR Manager The Cammutiee 1s able to obtain independent professional advice at the
Company s expense

The Commiitee recogrises the need ta enhance the Campany s executive remuneration policy, mare comprehensively matching
current Corporate Governance expectations Therefore, the Commuttes s key objective during 2011 will be to undertake a
comnrehensive review of 1ts current remuneration golicy with the intention of formulating and implementing new pelicies, where the
Committee has concluded, and the Board have agreed that such policies are a constructive maove forward reflect the Company s
specific circumstances better balance long and shert term considerations and more closely match the Company s risk appetite
while retaining scme flexibility Should new policies be agreed, they wiit be implemented in stages over the next two to three years

2 REMUNERATION POLICY

The Company s policy on remuneration 1s to set overall remuneration packages at a lavel sufficient to attract, retain and incentivise
high calibre staif with a view to enhancing loeng-term shareholder value The Commiitee also considers the level of pay and
employment conditions throughout the Group when setting Executive Directors remuneration, consistent with the Company s
general aim of seeking to reward all employees fairly accarcing to the na-ure of their role their perfermance and market iorces
Executive Directors

Consistent with this policy, emoluments awarded 1o Executive Directors are intencec to be competitive ana comprise a mix of both
pericrmance and non-performance-ralated remuneration and include discretionary awards This 1s designed to incentivisz Directors
and to align their interasts with those of shareholders Currently, no non-discretionary awards are made

The Remuneration Committee considers the market pesitioning of the remuneration of the Directors against a peer group of listed
rezl estate companies CLS does not currently aperate any long-term incentive plans

The cniteria used for judging the Executive Directors remuneration are

¢ their own personal performance measurad against specinc targets

» the financial perfermanca of the Group as measured againsi budget and
+ iotal sharenolder return

The Remuneration Cammiitee believes in incentvising the Directers by reference to their total remuneration and has reviewed this
to ensura that the Directars are not paid excessively In comparison .0 peer group companies

The Cammiitee anticipates that there will nat be any change to its remuneration policy in the year ending 31 December 2011
although following the policy review cutlined anove 1t is anticipatad that there will be changes in subsequent years
Non-Executive Directars

The remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors is reviewad and determined by the Executive Directers 1t consists of fees for
services ta the Board and any adcitional services such as chainng Board Committees

The Nan-Executive Directors fees are deemed to be appropriate for the Company s size and complexity although this will ne kept
under review by the Executive Directors
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REMUNERATICON POLICY (CONTINUED)
Basic Salaries

The basic salaries of the Executive Direclors are reviewed annually with any changes made affective a5 at 1 January The znnual
revisw takes account of ssmilar pasitions In peer group companias The annual increase in basic salaries for Executive Directors in
the forthcoming year was set at approximately 2 per cent In line with average salary Increases of staff (Sten Mortstedt £188,250,
Henry Klotz £215,400 Richard Tice €264 000 John Whiteley £187 320)

Performance Related Discretianary bonus

The performance-related aiscretionary bonus far each Executive Director for the year was determined after taking into account the
perisrmancze of the indvidual and the Company, together with the emoluments of the individual compared to those inits peer group

The Remunerztion Committee has amended its palicy in retation to the discreticnary benus such that fer the financial year ending
31 December 2011 1t wall implement a cap of 120 per cent of satary far each Executive Director

In determining any performance-relatad discretionary bonus fer the year ending 31 Decamber 2011 the Remuneration Committae
will have regard te amongst other things, company performance, far example the change In net asset value and core profit of the
Graup and the outpericrmance of tolal sharehotder return against the FTSE All Share Real Estata Index 1. will also undertake an
assessment of each Executive Directar s indwvidual objectives based on their role and responsibilities

The Executive Chairman does not receive a perfarmanca-related ciscretionary bonus, noris he 8 member of the Company s
pension scheme as part of his overall remuneration The Remuneration Committee considers that the size of his sharenalding in
the Company gives an adequate link to performance

The rermuneration of the Non-Executive Directars does nat include a performance-related element

For the year ended 31 December 201G the apportionment of rernuneration and other benents between discrationary perfarmance-
related and non-performance-related elements was as follows

Non-

Perfarmance- Performance-

related refated

Sten Mortstadt Nil 100%
Henry Klotz £7% 53%
Richard Tice 36% 64%
John Whitelay 19% 81%
Thomas Lundgwist MNil 100%
Malcolm Cooper Nil 100%
Joseph Crawley Nil 100%
Christopher Jarvis Nil 100%
Bengt Mortstedt @ Nil 100%
Jennica Mortstedt ¥ Nil 100%
Thomas Thomson Nit 100%

{1} Appainted to the Baard an 11 May 2010
(2) Retirea from the Board an 11 May 2010

Other Fees

Consultancy services are provided by companies associated with Mr Martstedt These sarvices relate to specific advice which 1s
outside the terms of Mr Mortstedt s contract of employment The Committee has reviewed the fees {or these services and is of the
ooimion that the markat rate for the services would have far exceeded the amount paid

Mr Klotz receives additional fees in respect of his appointment as Non-Executive Chairman cf Catena AB (£18,881) and Nan-Executive
Director of Note AB (£8,991), which are paid to him parsonally The fee earned as a Non-Executive Direcior of Bulganan Land
Development Plc was paid to the Company On 19 August 2010 Mr Klotz assumed the role of Non-Executive Chairman o Bulgarian
Land Development Ple for which no fee 1s payable to the Company or to Mr Klotz

Both Thomas Lundevist and Thomas Thomson receive hourly feas for specific projects undertaken sucject to che agreement of the
Chier Executive Offrcer or Executive Chairman
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3 DIRECTORS REMUNERATION (AUDITED)

For the year ended 31 Decembar 2010 the remuneration recewved by the Directors was as set out in the table betow

2010
Other
2010 2010 018 2010 2010 Benehts/ 2010 2009
Fee as 2010 Other Benefits Tatal Pension  Performance Tatal Tatal
Durector Salary Fees mkind Emoluments Contributions Reiated Remuneration Rermuneration
Nates €000 £000 €000 £000 £000 £400 £000 £000 £QO0
Executive
Sien Mortstedt - 185 300 - 485 - - 485 456
{Executive Chairman)
Henry Klotz 1 - 2i2 28 7 247 g 225 481 £52
{Chief Executive Officer)
Richard Tice 2 - 148 - 3 151 7 90 248 -
{Deouty Chief Executive Offecer)
Jchn Whiteley - 184 - 4 188 9 45 242 26
{Chief Financial Officer)
Non-Executive
Thomas Lundquist 3 2 - - - 21 - - 21 88
{Non-Executve Vice-Chairman)
Malcolm Ceoper 23 - - - 23 - - 23 23
Joseph Crawley 18 - - i8 - - 18 22
Christopher Jarvis 18 - - - i8 - - 18 18
Bengt Mortstedt 4 5 - - - 5 - - 8 15
Jenmca Mortstedt 5 10 - - - 0 - - 10 -
Thomas Thomson 15 - 2 - 17 - - 17 33
2010 110 729 330 14 1,183 25 340 1,568 1,133
Total for 2009
as reported 110 418 382 5 15 il 207 1133

(1) Appeinted Executive Vice Chairman on | January 2011

{2) Appointed to the Board an 11 May 2010 and Chief Executive Officer on 1 January 2011
{3)  Mr Lundgwist stepped down as Non-Executive Vice Chairman on 1 January 2041

{4) Retired from the Board on 11 May 2010

{3) Appaintad to the Board on 11 May 2010

The benefits provided to Executive Directors are permanent health, private medical Insurance, life assurance anc penston contributions
under the Company s defined contribetion pensien scheme Nc car or car allowance 1s provided to any Director (2009 ncne)

4 DIRECTORS PENSION ENTITLEMENT (AUDITED)

The Executive Directors are entitled to particioate in a defined contribution pension scheme of which one Director {John Whiteley)
was a member at the end of the peried (2009 two) Participants are required to contribute 5 per cent of basic UK salary (2009 5 per
cent), which (s matched by a contribution from the Company of 5 per cent (2009 5 per cent) The Company contributes 5 per cent
of satary towards Richard Tice s Self Invested Personal Pension in Lieu of coniributions ta the company pensian scheme
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SHARE PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The fallowing graph shows the Company s perfermance measured by total shareholder return (TSR) since the Company was listed
on the Lendan Stack Exchange zomparad with the TSR performances oi ihe FTSE All Share index and the FTSE All Shars Real
Estate index over the sama periad The FTSE All Share Real Estate index 1s considerad to be the most appropriate as it reflects the
pertormance of the sector in which the Company operates Historically the Company has consistently outperformed bath the FTSE
All Share and FTSE All Share Real Estate indices however in June 2007 share prices fell in anticipation of the downturn in the
commercial property market which occurrad in the second half of 2007 Since that time these indices have converged The TSR

graph below indeoendently scurced includes the positive impact to CLS shareholders of substanuzl capital districutions through
tencer offer buy-backs
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SHARE OPTIONS (AUBITED)

The Beard has delegated to the Remuneration Commiitee the authority to grant options under the Company s share schemes
being the 2005 Company Share Option Plan (CS0P) (an Inland Revenue Approved Scneme) and the Company s Unapproved Share
Optran Scheme (USOS)

On joining the Company on 11 March 2010, the Remuneration Committee granted Richard Tice aptions over 300,000 Ordinary
Shares, of wnich 6,382 were granted under the CSOP and 293,618 under the USQS at an option price of £4 70 The earltest date of
exercise of these share options granted under the Schemes 1s 11 March 2013 and 1s conditional upon the satisfaction of
apprepriate, non-market-based perfermance criteria, teing the growth in net assets of the Group being at least equivalent to the
growth of the All Properties Capital Growth Index maintained by IPD These options will expire en 10 March 2017

No other Directors held or were granted options over shares in the Company during the year and none of the terms or conditions
of the share options were varied during the year

The highest iowest and average mid-market share prices in the year were 574 5 pence, 420 pence and 48% 7 pence respectively
The year end share orice was 534 5 pence

DIRECTORS SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Executive Directors of the Company has a service contract In farce which, except for Mr Klotz whose contract as Chief
Executive Officer expired on 31 December 2010 are of no fixed term Mr Klotz s new service contract fram 1 January 2011 as
Executive Vice Chairman expires on 31 December 2013 [f tne Company exercises the right to terminate Mr Kloiz s contract earlier
than the expiry of the fixed term the Company would make a payment to Mr Klotz equivalent to the amaunt due under the unexpired
term Thera 15 no provision in the coniracts of Messrs Mortstedt, Tice or Whiteley for contractual termination payments save those
paymenis normally due under employment taw

In accordance with best practice Non-Executive Directors ara nat appaintad on service contrac*s although there are letters of
appaintment 1n place for each Non-Executive Director All of the Nan-Executive Directers are apponted until such ime as they are
not re-elected The Combined Cade recommended tnat all Non-Executive Directors who had served for more than nine years
shoule retire annually and be able to seek re-election at the Annual General Meeting Tnz New Code requires that all directors of
FTSE 350 companies e subject to annual election by sharenolders Although the Campany 1s not a canstituent or ine FTSE 350 the
Board intends to adopt this prowsian in 2011 and require the annual re-election of all Directors by snareholders If a director fails
to be re-elected the terms of their appointment will czase
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Details cof the service contracts or letters of appointment of those who served as Directors curing ine year are as follows

Name

Contract date Notice pericd

Sien Martsiect
Henry Klotz
Richard Tice ®
Jehn Whitetey
Thomas Lundgwist
Malcotm Cooper
Joseph Crawley
Christopher Jarvis
Bengt Mortstedt
Jennica Mortstedt @
Thomas Thormson

010105 12 moenths
9101 11 nfa
11031C 12 months
011009 & maonths
011095 3 months
1506 07 3 months
251108 3 months
251108 3 months
181298 é months
110510 3 months
250108 3 manths

@)
(2)
(€}

Fixed term contract to 31 December 2013
Appented to the Board an 11 May 2010
Retired from the Beoard on 11 May 2010

INTERESTS IN SHARES

The interests of the Directors in the erdinary shares of 25p each in the capital of the Company were

31 December 2010

31 December 2009t

Ordinary shares of 25p Ordinary shares of 25p
Sten Mortsteat 24,786,501 25 441,418
Henry Klotz 11,395 21,995
Richard Tice 224,145 -
John Whiteley 9,845 -
Thamas Lundgvist 79,378 62,991
Mazlcalm Cooper 4,825 -
Joseph Crawley - -
Christopher Jarvis - -
Bengt Mortstedt n/a 3,628 858
Jennica Mortstedt® - -
Thomas Thomson 114,545 114728

t  Or at date of appointment

All of the abcve interests in shares were held beneficially for the Directors cencerned The shares in which Sten Maortstedt 1s beneficially
interested are held in trust and include shares held in the name cf, beneficizlly ewnec oy, and held in trust for Mrs K Mortsteat
As at the date of this report, there have heen no changes to the interests of the Directors since 31 December 2010

LONG-TERM INCENTIVE SCHEME

The Company does not currently operate a long-term 1ncentive scheme However the above-menticned policy review will consider this

n ZG11

WAIVER OF EMOLUMENTS
No Directer has waived their emaluments during the year
Or\bebalt ofythe Board,

. 0

Tho
Chairman
Remuneration Committee
7 March 2011

ndqvist




CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

for the y=ar ended 31 December 2010

RESPONSIBILITY

The Executive Birectors ensure that the Group s phitesephy on Corporate Reszonsibility 1s known to all staff and actively
encourages its support by employees across the Group

The Group ensures tnat it 1s comoliant with all legislation 1ncluding environmental legislation in these countries in which
It operates

ENVIRONMENT

The Board 1s aware of the Group s environmental impact and tharefore seeks noth te minimise adverse effects and to anhance
positive effects of the impact on the envirenment The Group Is commitiad to a responsible and forward-looking approach to
environmentzl 1ssues and encourages recycling energy conservation and the use of alternative enargy supplies

When concewing, designing ana developing new build projects we place high prierity an achieving and bettering the guidelines
for sustainability and renewable energy sources

Throughout the partfalio with regular maintenance and any impravemnent projects we seek to maximise afficiency of the Group s
butldings and to reduce anergy consumption, with consideraticn of the needs of our tenants and the age of our cuildings When
upgrading or refurbishing properties we recognise that tha principal issues requiring to be managed are minimising local
environmentzl impact particularly noise ana dust, managing construction waste and scurcing matzrials responsibly Recycling
ooportunities are reviewed and implemented wheare possitle

Examples of trus approach include the installation of electricity check meters when carrying out refurbishments and using video-
conferencing to reduce the need to travel between our European offices

Buring 2011 a new energy production iacility will be ins.alled at our property in Vanerparken The new energy cenire 15 intenced i
to provide the entire site with heating coaling and hot water The installation will decrease Vanerparken s COZ and other emissions
by approxima ely 90 per cent, with heating suppliac by the lecal authenity only in extreme cencitions

Qur recent developments at Lanashut and Bachum in Germany were designed to comply with the ENEV SILVER requirements on
energy saving and at Lanashut ground water was used in the cooling system for the otfice space

In addition we are developing a reperting tool to give House Managers impraved data on energy use with benchmarks for average
consumption in order to spot variances from expected trencs Tn due course 1t 15 envisaged that this manuat system will be
rezlaced with an autamated system linked to Smart Meters

The Company s a member of tha CRC Energy Efficiency Scheme in the UK and, as explained above is actively managing energy
consumption in the pertfolio to reduce carben emissions in erder to minimise 113 emissions and commensurate financial costs
Part of our respansitility 1s also te help tenants in their etforts to save energy

As part of its ongaing environmental intiatives, the Grouo will be imolementing a Green Charter duning 2011, which will then be
published on our website This Green Charter will identify areas within the activities of the Group that have an impact on the
envirenment and wnicn can be actively menitored and measurec witn the aim of increasing our environmental efficiency These
areas ara primarily linked to the actwvities within our portfolio and will include energy and water cansumption, refurbishment and
recevelopment opportunities waste manacement and corporate behaviour The Green Charter will imitially encompass the UK
property portfolio 2nd then ce implemented n all other jurisdictions

EMPLOYEES

The Birectars believe that the Grouo s employees are a source of competitive advantage The Direciors recognise that continued
and sustained improvement in the performance of the Group depends on its ability to attract motwvate and retain employees of the
highest calibre The Group 1s committad to the principle of equal opportunsty in employment It seeks to ensure that no emeloyee
or applicant s treated less favourably an the grounds of gender, marital status, race, colour, nationzality, ethnic or naticnal origin
religion, disability or sexual erientation ner 1s disadvantaged oy conditians or reguirements, including age Limits which cannot be
justifiec objectively Entry intc, and pregression within, the Group are solely determined by the application of job criteria, personal
aptituge and compeience These policies have werked effectively throughout the periad

|
It1s the Group s policy to apely best practice in tha employment of disabled peapte Futl and fair consideration ts given to every ‘
application for employment from disabled persons whose aptitude and skills can be utilised in the busineass and to tnair training
and career development This includes, wherever possible, the retraining and reiantion of staff who become disabled duning their
employment

All staft are informad of mattars concerming thair interest as employees and tha financial and economic factors affecting the
business Established management communication channels nave ceen supplemented by cirect presentations to staff by Directors
to exolamn develoements of particular significance
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4 CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

Duning the year 15 of the Company s Loendon emiplayees took part in & fun run for Land Aid Charitable Trust the r=al estate sector
chanty which assists the homeless In additian the contributions made by the Group during the year for charitable curposes were
£1,831 (2009 £3,557)

Neaither tne Company nor any of iIts subsidiaries mace any donations of a politiczl nature during the year

5 HEALTH & SAFETY

It 1s @ primary concern of the Boarc tnzt the Comoany manages its activities in such 2 manner as to ensure thai the health and
safaty of its employees tenants advisors contractors and the general public 1s not compramised

As part of this process the Company employs specialist accrecdited advisars to advise an all Health and Safety matiers relating

to the Group The Company also operaies 2 Heslth anc Safety Committee covering issues related to tne UK portfolic and its
employees It1s chaired by the Company Secretary and its members include House Managers Asset Managers and advisors and
it reports te the Chier Executive Officer All regions maintain and follow thair local Health and Safety policies and report 1ssues teo
the Chief Executive Gfiicer This reparting process has workea effectively thraughout the peried and has ensurad cngoing
campliance with Health anc Safety legislation

&  BUSINESS ETHICS

The Board recognises the importance of the Company s respensibilities as an athical employer and views matters (n which the
Company interacts with the communuty both socially and economically as the respensibility of the whole Board Following the
enactment ¢f the Bnbery Act 2010, the implementation of which 1s expectad during in 2011, the Cempany intends to implement
a sitable pelicy to further demonstrate its commitment to business ethics




INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE
MEMBERS OF CLS HOLDINGS PLC

We have auditec the group financial statements of CLS Holdings plc for tne year ended 31 Decamber 2010 which comprise the group
sta*ement of comprehensive Income, the group balance sheet the grouo staternent of changes in aquity, the group statement of cash
flows and the related notes 1 te 32 The financial reporting framewark that has been applied in their creparation is applicable taw and
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union

Thts repart 1s made solely to the Company s members as a body In accordance witn Chapter 3 of Part 15 of tne Companies Act 2006
Our audit work has been undertaken so tnat we might siaie to the Company s membaers those matters we are requireg to state to them
in an audior s report and for ne other purpose To the juliest extent permitted by law we do not accept or assume respansibility to anyane
ather than the Cempany and the Company s members as a body, for cur audit work, for this report or for the opintons we have formed
RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS

As axplained mare fully In the Statement of Directors Responsibilities on page 30, the Directars ara responsicle for the preparztion of
the group financial statements and for betng satished that they give 2 true and {air view Qur responsthility 1s to sudit and express an
opirion ¢on the group financial statements 1n accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland)
Those standards require us to camply with the Auditing Practices Board s (APB =) Ethical Stancards for Auditors

SCOPE OF THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and aisclasures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonaole assurance
that the financiai statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error This includes an assessment of
whetner the accounting policies are approcriate to the Group s circumstances and have been consisiently acpbied and adequately disclosed,
the reasonableness of significant accaunting estimates made by the Directors and the cverall presentation of the financial staiements
QPINION ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In our opinian the group financial statements

* gweatrue and fair view of the state of the Group s affairs as at 31 Decemoer 2010 and of its profit far the year then ended,

*  have been groperly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adepted oy the Eurepean Union and

+  have bean preparad in accardance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2066 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation

SEPARATE OPINION IN RELATICN TG IFRSS AS ISSUED BY THE IASB

As explained In note 2 ta the group tinancizl statements the Group in additran to complying with 1its lagal abligation to apaly IFRSs
as adoptad by the European Union, has also applied IFRSs as 1ssued by the International Accounting Standards Board {JASB)

In cur opimion the group financial statements camply with IFRSs as 1ssued by the |IASB

QOPINIQN ON OTHER MATTERS PRESCRIBED BY THE COMPANIES ACT 2004

In our opinian the informatian given in the Directors Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are preparaed 1s
consistant with the graup financial staternents

MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE REQUIRED TO REFORT BY EXCEPTION

We have nothing te repart in respect of the following

Under the Campanies Act 2006 we are required ta report ta you 1If 1n our epinon

« certain disclosures of directors remuneration specified by law are not made, or

s we nave not receved all the information anc explanations we raquire for our audst

Under the Listing Rules we are recuired “o review

s the airectors statement cantained within the Qireciors Report in relation ta going concern

« the part of the Corparate Governance Statement ralating to the company s compliance with the nine provisions of ihe June 2008
Cembined Code specified for our review and

s certain elements of the reper: to sharsholaers by the Hoard on directors remuneration

OTHER MATTER

We have reparted separately on the parent com
and on the information in the Birectars Rem

ny financial statements of CLS Holdings plc fer the year ended 31 December 2010
ation Rgfikrt that 1s described as having been zudited

Mark Goodey {Sentor Statutory Auditor)
for and an cehalf of Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutary Auditor
Londan

7 March 2011
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GROUP STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

fer the year ended 31 Decemncer 2070

2010 2006
Notes £m £m
Continuing operations
Group revenue 4 791 743
Costs 4 (30 3) (363
48.8 460
Net movements on revaluation of investment properties N 301 (7
Net gatn on szle of corporate sonds and other investments 93 19
Prafit on sale of investment properties - 03
Operating profit 88.2 415
Net finance costs 7 (25.0) (25 9)
Share of profit cf asscaiates after tax 15 77 25
Profit before tax 709 185
Taxation 8 (10 8) (an
Profit for the year 5 601 174
Other comprehensive income
Foraign exchange differencas 11 (%9
Fairvalue gains en carparaie bonds and ather investments 14 31 125
Fair value (gains)/losses taken to the income statement on disposal
of corporata bonds and other invesimenis 14 (85) 10
Deferrea tax on net fair value gains on corporate bonds and other nvestments 21 18 32)
Share of other comprehensive income of asscciates 15 (9 4) 04
Total comprehensive income for the year 572 1B 4
Profit attributable to
Owners of the Company 401 175
MNon-contrelling interests - cn
Profit for the year 40.1 174
Total comprehensive income attributable to
Owners of -ne Campany 572 i87
Naon-contrelling interasts - @1y
Total comprehensive income for the year 572 186
Earnings per share from continuing operations attrbutable to the
owners of the Company during the year {(expressed in pence per share)
Basic 9 1271 3464
Diutez 9 1271 364

The notas on pages 43 tc 77 are an integral part of these group financial statements




GROUP BALANCE SHEET

At 31 December 2010

2010 200¢
Notes £m £m
Non-current assets
Investment properties 1 876 9 8130
Property, plant and eguipment 12 2.6 25
Intangibie assets 13 11 i1
Investments in associates 15 408 409
Other invesiments 14 814 739
Oerwarive financial instruments 17 4.6 a1
Deferred tax 21 112 127
1,018 4 Q44 2
Current assets
Trade and other recevables 18 115 104
Cash and cash equivelents 19 48.3 703
598 807
Total assets 1,078 4 i0249
Current Labilities
Trade and other payables 20 {31 8) 301
Current tax (53) (1))
Derwative financial instruments 17 {10) (187
Borrowings including finance leases 22 {85 D) (1135)

(123 1) (164 3)

Non-current biabilities

Deferrag tax 21 (74 5) (72 3)
Barrowings, including finance leases 22 (504 3) {479 3)
Dervative financial instruments 17 (19 3) -

(598 1) (551 &)

Total Uabilities (721.2) (7159
Net assets 3572 3090
EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable to the owners of the Company
Snare camital 24 129 133
Snare premium account 26 75 705
Other reserves 27 1025 1050
Retained earnings 1M & 1215
3585 3103
Non-controlling interests (13) (13)
Total equity 3572 3090

The financial statements of CLS Holdings plc (registered number 2714781) were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for
1ssue on 7 March 2011 and were stgned on 1ts behalf by

Mr S A Mortstedt
Direcior /

H Klotz
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Attributable to the
owners of the Company No-
Share Share Other Retained controlling
capital premium reserves earnings Total interesis Tatal
Notes £m Em £m €m £Em £m £
At 1 January 2010 133 705 1059 1215 310.3 13) 3090
Arising in 2010
Total comprehensive income
far the year - - 2N 401 57.2 - 57 2
Issue of treasury shares - 10 - - 1.0 - 10
Purchase of own shares 24 (0 4) - 04 (10 0) (10.0) - (10 0)
Expenses thereof - - - {0 1) (0.1) - (01)
Employee share option schemes - - - 01 0.1 - 0.1
Total changes arising tn 20140 (0 4) 10 (25) 50 1 482 - 48 2
At 31 December 2010 129 715 1025 171 6 358.5 {13) 357 2
Attributable ta the
owners of the Company
Non-
Share Shara Qther Retained cantralling
capital premiurm reserves earnings Total interests Total
MNates Em £m Em Em £m £m Em
At 1 January 2009 167 708 100 4 152 2 3398 12 338 4
Arising in 2009
Tota! comprehensive Income/{loss)
for the year - - 12 175 187 on igé
Purchase ot own shares 24 (34) - 34 {48 0) (48 0) - (48 0)
Exoenses thereof - - - (G2) {02) - a2
Total changes ansing in 2009 (3 4) - 46 (307) (29 5) on (29 6)
At 31 Decermnber 2009 133 705 1050 1215 3103 {13) 3090

The notes on pages 43 to 77 are an integral part of these group financial stataments




GROUP STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

for the year ended 31 December 2010

2010 200¢
Notes Em Em

Cash flows from operating actsnities
Cash generatad from ogerations 28 512 457
Interest receved 5.2 48
Interest pard (217) 30M
Income tax oaid (3.4) (30)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 33 17 &

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase af investment praperty (36 4) 2¢2)
Capial expenditure on invesiment property (65) (22 8)
Proceeds from sale of invesiment property 01 22
Purchase of corporate boncs {517) {70 8)
roceeds from sale of corporate bonds 477 249
Purchase of ecuity invesiments (10) -
Proceeds from sale of equity investments 08 o7
Purchase of interesis in associate (19) (18)
Distributions receved from assocsate undertakings 119 15
Costs on foreign currency transactions (12) 4 2)
Amounts expendec in relation to corporate disposals in prier periods 07 o
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (0 3) @1
Net cash outflow from investing activities {39 2) (100 &)

Cash flows from financing activities
Purchase ¢f own shares (10 1) {48 2)
New loans 1027 &9 7
Issue casts of new loans (11) [(URe)]
Repayment of loans (100 &) (57 4)
Purchase cf financial instruments (39) 01
Issue of ordinary shares from Treasury shares 10 -
Net cash outflow from financing activities {12 0) (36 3)
Net decrease in cash and ¢ash equivalents {19.9) (118 9)
Fareign exchange loss (2.1) (55)
Casn and cash equivalen.s at the beqinning of the year 70.3 1953
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 19 48.3 703

The notes on pages 43 to 72 are an integral part of these group financial statements
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NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21 Decar~ber 2010

1  GENERAL INFORMATION

CLS Holdings plc (tha Company ) and its subsidiaries (together CLS Holdings or the Groun )i1san investment property group
which is principally involved In the investment managemant and development ef carnmercial properties and in cther investments
Thea Groua s princical operaticns are czrried out In the United Kingdom, France, Germany and Sweaden

The Company 1s registared 1n the UK, ragistration numbear 2714781 of registerad acdrass 86 Bondway, London, SW8 1SF The
Campany 1s listed en the London Stock Excnange

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting palicies applied 1n the preparation of these group financial statements are set out below These colicies
have teen consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated

21

22

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been preparec on a going cencern basis as explained in the Directors Report on page 24 and
have oeen preparad in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards { IFRSs ) as adopted by the European
Umon, International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee ( IFRIC ) interpretations and the provisions of the
Companies Act 2004 applicable ta companies reporuing under IFRS

New standards and interpretations

In the current year the Group has adogted four standarcs and guidance for the first ime neone of which has hac a matenat
effect on the results for the year

*  Amendments te IFRS 1 (July 2009) - Addittonal Exemptions for First-time Adopters

*  Improvements to IFRSs 2009 (April 2009)

+ IFRS 1 (revisec November Z008) - First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards

e {FRS 3 {revised January 2008) - Business Combinations

s |FRIC 17 — Distributrons of Nori-cash Assets to Qwners effective for accounting periads starting on or after 1 July 2009

¢ {FRIC 18 - Transfers of Assets from Customers effective for transfers on or after 1 July 2009

At the date of autnorisation of these financial statements the following Standards and Interpretations, which have not been
applied in these financial statements were :n1ssue but not yet effective In somea cases these standards and guidanca have
not been endorsed by the Eurcpean Union

s Amendments to JAS 12 (December 2010) - Deferred Tax Recovery of Underlying Assets

¢+ Amendments to IFRS 1 (December 2010) - Severe Hyperinflation and Remaoval of Fixed Dates for First-tire Adopters

«  Amendmenis to IFRS 7 {October 2016) - Disclosures - Transfers of Financial Assets

« |Improvements to IFRSs 2010 (May 2010}

¢+ Amendment to IFRS 1 (January 2010) - Limited Fxemptian from Comparative IFRS 7 Disclosures for First-tme Adapiers
s IF3S9 - Financial Instruments

s AS 24 (revised November 2009) - Related Party Disclosures

s Amendment to IAS 32 (October 2009) - Classification of Rights Issues

These proenouncements wnen apolied, either will result in changes to presentation anc cisclosure, or are not expected to
have a matenal impact on the financial statements

Business Combinations

(1) Suhbsidiary undertakings

Subsidiary undertakings are those entities controiled by the Group Control 1s assumed when the Group has the power
to govern the financizl and operating policies of an entity or business to banaifit irom its activities Subsidiaries are fully
consalidated from the date on which control 1s transferred to the Group untit the date control ceases All intra-group
transactions balances, iIncame and expenses ara eliminated on consolidatian

{n) Joint ventures

Jaint venturas are thosa entities over whose acivities the Group has joint canirol establisheg oy contractual agreement
The group financial statements include the Group s proportionate share of iIncome expenses, assats, liabilities and cash
ficws of jeint venturss

(i) Asscciates

Associates sre those eninties over which the Group has significant influence but which are not subsidiary undertakings or joint
vantures Tne results and assats and liabilities of asseciates are incorparated 1n these ninancial staternents using the equity
methed of accounuing Invesiments in associatas are carried In the nalance sheet at cost as adjustad by post-acquisttion
changes in the Group s share of tne net assets of the associate, less any impairment 1n the value of indwidual investments
When the Group s share of losses in an assaciate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate the Groun coes not racognise
further losses unless it nas incurred coligations er mace payments on behalf of the associate Unrealisec gains on
transactions between the Group and 1ts associates are eliminatec to the extent of the Group s interest in tha associates
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairmen® of the asset transferred

Vil




NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

31 December 2010

2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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Business Cambinations {continued)
(v) Goodwall

Goodwill anising on consclidation represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group s interest in the tair
value of idenufiable assets and liabihties of a subsidiary joint venture ar associate at the date of acquisition itis initially
recognised as an asset at cost and is subsequently measurad at cost less any accumulated impairment losses Goodwill
which 1s recognisad as an asset is reviewsd far impairment at least annually

Fareign currency
{t) Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translatea inte sterling using the exchange rate prevailing at the date of the
transaction Manetary zssets and Liabibties denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date a2 translated
into sterting at the exchange rate ruling at that date anc differences arising on translation are recognisad in profit
bafore tax unless they relate to qualifying cash flow hedges ar gualifiing net investment hedges

Changes In the fair value of monetary securities classified as available-for-sale and denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in prefit before tax where the translation difference results from changes in the amortised cost of the
secunity and are recognisad In equity wnere It results from otner cnanges In the carrying amount of the security

{u1) Consolidatton of foreign entities

The results and financial position of sl the Group entitias that have a functional currency difierent from sterling are
translated into sterling as follows

(a) assets and Liabilities are translated at the clesing rate at the date of the balance sheat

(b) ncome anc expensas far each income statement are translated at the average exchange rates (unless this average 1s
not a reasonable appraximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates 1n which case
Income anc expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions), and

() all resulting exchange differences are recognised directly in equity in the cumutative translation raserve

On consalidation exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities and of
borrowings and other currency Instruments designated as hedges of such investments are taken ta the cumulative
translation reserve When a foraign cperation is sold such exchange differences are recognised as part of the gain or
loss on sale in profit befare tax

Investment properties

Investment propertias are those properties nela for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both Land held under
an cperating lease is ¢lassifiad and accounted for as an investment praperty when the definttion of investment property I1s
met and the operating lease I1s accountec for 25 1f It were & finance lease Investment properues are measured initially at
cast ncluding related transaction costs

After imtial recognition at cost investment properties are carried at fair value based on markel value as determined oy
professional external valuers at the balance sheet date Invesument properties being redeveloped for conunuing use as
investment properties, or for which the market has become less active continue to be classinied as investment prooerties
and measured at fair value Changes in iair velues are recogrised in profit before tax If an mvestiment property becomes
owner-gccupled 1t s reclassified as property, plant and equipment and its fair value at the date of reclassification becomes
its cost for accounting curposes Subsequently the owner-occupied croperty 1s depreciated over its useful ecanomic tife and
revalued at the balance sheet date

Preperty, plant and equipment

Proverty plant and equipment 1s stated at historical cost less accumulatec depreciation and zny recegnisac impairment loss

Land 1s not depreciated Depreciation on property, plant and egquipment I1s calculated using the straignt-line metnad to
allocate cost less estimated residual values over the estimated useful lives as follows

Plant and eguipment 4 - Syears
Frechold property & years

The gain or toss arising on the dispesal or retirement of an asset 1s detarmined as the difference between the sale proceeds
and the carrying ameunt of tne asset and Is recognisec in pront hefore tax Freehole croperty s depraciated until Decemesar
2014 after which 1t 1s anticipated that it will be redeveloped
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Intangible assets

Intangible gssats acquired separately are capitalised at cost and in respect of business combinations are caoitalisad at fair value
at the cate of acquisition Intangiole assets arz amortised over thewr esbmated useful lves on a straight line basis as follows

Trade names 11 years
Customer ralationships 10 - 11 years
Technology 4 years
Capitalised development and other costs not amortisec

Financial instruments
(1) Denwvative financial instruments

The Group uses dervative financial Instruments, including swaps and interest rate caps to help manage its interest rate
and fereign exchange rate nisk Derivative financial instruments are recorded, and subsequently revalued, at fair value
Revaluation gains and losses are recagnised In profit before tax except for dervatives which qualify as effective cash
flow hedges the gains and {osseas relating to which are recognised directly in equity

(n) Availabte-for-sale investments

Available-for-sale investments are inttially maasurad at cest and are subsequently revalued to fair value Revaluation gains
anc losses are recogrised dirsctly in ecuity except for impairment lesses and foraign exchange gains and losses on maonstary
assets On dispasal, the cumulative gain or less previously recognised In equity 1s recycled througn prefit before tax

() Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand demand deposits and other short-term highly lguid investments
which are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk ef changes in value

(v} Trade and other receivahles and payables
Trade and other recevables are recognised initially at fair value Animpairment pravision s created where there I1s
objecive evidence that the Group will not be able te collect the recewvaole in full Trade and other payaoles are stated at
cost, which equates to fair valua

{v) Borrowings

Barrowings are recagnised imually at fair value less attributable transaction costs Subsequently, borrowings are stated
at amortised cost with any difference between the amount initially recognised and the redempticn value being
recognised 1n profit before tax over the peried of the borrowings using the effective interest rate method

Revenue

{) Rentalincome
Rental revenue fram operating leases 1s recognised on a straight-tine basis over the lease term When the Group
provices Incentives to Its customers, the cost of Incentives are recognised over the lease term, on a straight-line basis,
as a raductien of rental revenue

{n) Service charge income
Sarvice and management charge revenue Is recagnised an a gross basis In the accounting period 1n whicn the services
are randered Where the Group 15 acting as an agent the comrmussion rather than gross revenue 1s recorded as revenue

{m} Other property-related tncome
Revenue from the sale of goads and services Is bookad when the revenue can be calculated religbly, and the risks and
benefits have been trans.errad to the buyer Revenues are boakad net of deductions for VAT and discounts

Profit on sale of investment properties

Profits on sale of iInvestment properties are recognised when the risks and rewards of ownership have oeen transferred to
the cuyer, typically on unconditional exchange of contracts or when legal title casses
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED}

2 10 Income tax

Current tax 1s based on taxacle proni for the year and 1s calculated using tax raies that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet daie

Deferred tax 1s provided using the balance sheet lability method on tempoerary differences between the carrying value of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the values used for tax purposes Temporary ditferences are not
proviced for when they arise irom inibal rececnition of goadwill or fram the initial recognition of assets and latilities In a
transaction that daes nat affect accounting or taxable profit

The amount of deferred tax provided 1s based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amaunt af
assets and liabilities, and 15 calculated using rates that are expected to apoly in the gariod when the Liability 1s settled er the
asset I1s realised, In the tax jurisdiction in which the temporary differances anse Deferrad taxis chargad or credited in
arriving at profit after tax, except whan 1t relates to itemns recognised directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax 15 also
recagnised In equity

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it 1s prabable that future taxaole crofi.s will be available against
which the assets can be used Tne deterred tax assets and labilihizs are only offset if they relate to incoma taxes levied by the
same taxation autnority there 1s a legally enforceable night of set-oft and the Group intends ta setile its current tax assets
and tabilittes on a net basis

2 11 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all tne risks and banefits of
ownership io the lessee All other leases are classifiec as operauing leases Certain cocerating leases for land that s
classifiad and accounted for as investment propery cursuant to IAS 40 - Investment Properties are accountec for as if thay
were finance laases

(1) A Group company is the lessee

(a) Rentals payable under operating leases are charged ta he statement of comprehensive Income an a straight-line
basis aver the term of the lease Beneiiis receved and racewvable as an incentive Lo enter inte an operating lease are
also spread on a siraight-line basis over the term of the leass

(b) Assets held under finance leases are recegnised as assets at the lease commencament date at the lower of the fair
vzlue of the leased asset and the presant value of the minimum lease payments The corresponding liabitity to the
lessor 1s included in the balance sneet as a finance leasz ocligation Each lease payment is allocated between
finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the hability Finance charges are charged directly against income

{u) A Group company is the lessor

{a) Rental income from cperating leases is recognised on a straight-tine basis over the term of the lease Initial direct
costs mcurred In negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount oi ine leased asset
and recognised on a straight-line basis aver the lease term

(b) Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as recevables at the amount of the Group s net
investment In *ne leases Finance lease inceme 1s allocatad to accounting periads so as to reflect a canstant
periodic return on the Group s net investment autsianaing in respect of the leases

2 12 Employee benefits

Pensian obligations

The Grouo cperates varicus defined contribution plans The Group pays centributions to publicly or privatety adminisiered
pansion insurance plans on a mandatory centractual or veluntary casis The Group nas no furiner payment obligations once
the contnbutions have bean paig A contributien I1s recognised as an employee beneilt expense when it 1s due A prepaid
contribution 1s recognised as an asset to the ex*znt that a cash refund or a reduction in future paymenis 1s available

2 13 Share-based payments

The Grouo 1ssues to certain employees equity-settied share-basea payments the fair values of which are calculated using
the Black Scholes share aption valuation model Fair value, excluding the effect of non-market-based conditions, 1s
determinad at the date of grant and 15 amortised {o ine statement cf comprehensiva Income over the vesiing period an a
straignt-line basis with a correspanding increase in equity At each talance sheet daie the fairvalue 1s recalculated, pased
on the extent to which the vesting penod has expired and management s best esumate of the nen-market conditions and of
the number of equity instruments that will ulbmately vest, and the rate of amortisation is adjusted accordingly
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the applicavien of the Group s accounting pclicres, which are describad in note 2 the Directors are required to make judgements
estimates and assumptiens aoout the carryping amounts of assets and lizbilities that are not readily apparent from other sources
The esumates and assaclated assumptions are based on historical excenence and other faciors tha are considered to be relevant
Actual results may differ from these 2stimates

The estimates and underlying assumaotions are revtewed on an ongoing basis Changes to accounting estimates are recognisad in
the pertod In which the estimate 15 revised if tne revision affacts only that period or in the cerwod of the revisien and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods

The following are the cniical esimates and judgements that the Directors have made in the process of applying the Grouc s
accounting policies and that have tne most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements

{1} Fair value of investment properties

The best ewidence of fair value 1s current prices in an active market for similar lease and other contracts In the absence of
such information the Group determines the amount wathin a range of reasonaole fair value estimates ln making its
judgement, the Group considers infarmation from a vanety of sources including

{a) currant pnces in an active market for properties of a different nature condition or location (or subject to different lease
or other contracts) zdjusted to reflzct those differences

(b} recent prices of similar prooerties in less active markats, with adjustments to reflect any changes in economic
canditians since the cate of the t~ansactions that occurred at those prices and

{c) discounted cash flow projections based on rzliable estimates of future cash flows, derived from tne terms of any existing
lease and cther coniracts and {where possible) fram external evidence such as current market rents for similar
prepertres 1n the same location and condition and using discaunt rates that reflect current market assessments of the
uncertainty in the amount and timing of the cash flows

{1t) Income Taxes

The Group 1s sunjact to Income taxes 1n different jurisdictions and estimaticn is required to determine the worldwize
prowision for income taxes There are some transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination Is
uncertain Where the inal tax outcome of these matlers i1s different from the amounts that were imitially recorded, sucn
differences will imoact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which determination 1s made

() Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets

When assessing pessible impairment of goadwill and other intangible assets the Group 15 required to make an assessment
of recoverable amounts Recoverable amount s calculatad as tne higher of fair value less costs to sell and value In use
In making these assessments, assumptions are required to be made based upan information available at the time

{w) Deferred tax

The methed of calculation of deferred tax in relation to UK properties assumes that indexation allowance will be available
as It1s assumed that the Group will recover the carrying amount of its investment oraperties through use followed by an
eventual sale

{v) Listed corporate bands

The best evidence of the fair value of listea corporate bends is quoted prices in an active market The bond market 15 not
always zs liquid as conventional equity marieats The Group therefare 1s required te make cer.ain jucgements when arriving
at the rair value of boncs whicn are less liquid 1n nature To the extent that bend prices are not avaitabls from third party
pricing scurces the Group determines -neir fair vaive by comparing abservable market cata and making judgements on the
ligudity of particular bonds crom s variety of sources

(a) the Group uses a broker ta cbtain multicle quotes directly from market makers and to make a jJudgement as to the
licwidity of those conds, and the Group determines whether the judgments of liquidity are reasonzble and whether the
spread of market maker gricas (s within an expected range and

(b) the Group makes Judgements on price and liguidity based on recent market transactions in particular bonds
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4 SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Grouc has twe operating dwistons - Investrment Property end Other Investments Other Invesiments compnise corperate bonds
shares In Caiena AS Bulgarian Land Development Plc and Wyatt Media Group AB and otner small corporata investments The
Group manages the Investment Property division an a geographical basis due to its size and geograzhical diveraity Cansequently
the Group s principal operating segments are

Investment Property - London
France
Germany
Sweden
Other lnvestments
There are no transactions between the operating segments

The Group s resulis for the year ended 31 December 2010 by operating segment were as follows

Investment property

Other
Landen France Germany Sweden Investments Total
£m (2] £m £m £m €m
Rental income 245 178 143 55 - 421
Service charge income 4.2 4.9 27 a3 - 121
Other oreperty-related income 05 01 - - - 0é
Income from non-property activities - - - - 43 43
Group revenue 29 2 228 170 58 43 791
Service charges and similar expenses {55) (5 2) (3 0) {14) - (15 1)
Admirnistration expenses 29 (15) (10) (0 3) 3.9) (9 8)
Other expenses (05) (02) (13 - (0 2) (2 2)
Costs 8.9 (49) {5 3) an 1) (26 9
Group revenue less costs 203 159 117 41 g2 522
Net movements on revaluation of investment properties 48 178 82 07 - 301
Net gain on sale of corporate boncs and other investments - - - - 9?3 23
Profit/(loss) on sale of subsidiaries - {1.6) - 16 - -
Segment operating profit 251 321 199 50 95 916
Net finance cosis {16.2) {29 (69) {(04) 14 {25 0)
Share of prefit of assccrates after tax - - - - 77 77
Segment profit before tax 8.9 292 130 46 186 74 3
Taxation 01 {9 68) (0 5) {0 4) (0 4) {10 8)
Segment profit after tax 90 196 125 42 182 635
Central administration costs (3 4)
Profit for the year 60.1
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The Group s results for the year endec 31 December 2009 by operating segment weare as follows

lnvestrment property

Other

Londors France Gerrrany Sweden  [nvestments Total
£m Em £m £m £m Em
Rental income 250 159 148 49 - 60 6
Service cnarge income 47 42 17 03 - 16 %
Other croperty-relaied income G4 03 03 - - 10
Income from non-property aciivities - - - - 38 38
Group revenue 301 204 168 52 38 763
Service charges and similar expenses (63) {4 5) (28) 12 - (14 8)
Adruristration expenses (2 4) (i 9) an @9 37 (7 4)
Qiher expanses (1o Qn a2 (02) 02 (33
Costs ICA)] (X)) (51) (4R G (27 5)
Group revenue less costs 262 137 17 33 1 48 8
Net movements cn revaluatian of investment properties 241 (159 (139) (14) - (&7
Gatn on sale of corporate borids and other investments - - - - 19 19
Proiit on sale of investment properties 03 - - - - 03
Segment operating profit/{loss} 44 6 (22) (18) 19 18 44 3
Net finance costs (61 (7 0) {74) (1) (34) (25 5)
Snare of profit of asseciates arter tax - - - - 25 Z5
Segment profit/(loss) before tax 385 {2 2) (92) 03 09 21.3
Taxation (4 0) 16 02 04 05 amn
Segment profit/{loss) after tax 34.5 (76) (7 0) 09 14 20.2
Central admirustration costs (28)
Profit for the year 17 4
Other segment information
Assets Liabiities Capital expenditure
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
€m Em tm £m £m £€m
Investment Proparty
London 391.2 37G2 295 4 2820 237 14
France 256 7 24613 190 4 187 6 165 315
Germany 2032 2000 154.5 i588 27 177
Sweden 514 5846 45.0 a7 0.4 21
QOther investments 1457 1500 35.7 568 - -
1,078 4 1,024 9 721 2 715 % 425 527

Included within the assets of other investmenis are investments mn associates of £40 & million (2009 €409 millon)
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PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

rofit far the year has been arrived at after charging

2010 2009
£m £m
Auditor s remuneration
Fees payable to the Company s auditor for the audit of tha parent Company and group accounts 02 gz
Fees payable to the Company s audHor for ather services 1o the Group
The audit of the Company s subsidiaries pursuant ta legislation 01 a1
Cepreciation ang amertisation 03 05
Employee benefits expense (note 6) 80 &7
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE
2010 2009
£m £m
Wages and salaries 62 53
Social secunty costs 10 08
Pension costs - defined contribution plans 03 Q2
Other employee-related expenses 05 0L
80 &7

Tne Directors are considered to be key managemant of wne Group

Information on Directors emoluments share options and interests in the Company s shares 1s given n the Directors

Remuneration Report on pages 31 {0 35

Tne mentnly average number of employees of the Group In continuing aperations, including Executive Directors, was as follows

2010 2060%
Qther Other
Property operatians Total Propar.y operations Tatal
number number number numoer nurnber number
Male 2 19 40 20 20 L0
Female N 5 34 29 8 37
52 24 76 49 28 77

Share-based payments

The Grouo operates twa employee share option schemes, the 2005 CLS Heldings Plc Coampany Share Option Plan and the Group s
unapproved Share Option Scneme In March 2010, share options under these schemaes were grantec at an exercise price of 470p,
and can be exercised from March 2042 to March 2017 Details of vesting conaitions in relatian to these options are given within the

Diractors Remuneration report on paga 34

Tne movement in share opticns during the year was

2010 200@
Number Exercise Nurnber Exercise
of share price of share price
options (pence) options (pence)
Outstanding at the baginning of the year - - - -
Granted during the year 300,000 470 - -
Qutstanding at the end of the year 300,000 470 - -

Exercisable at the end of the year -
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The fair value of share optians granted in 2010 were calculated using the Black Scholes model The inouts ta trus moeael were

Snare price at grant date (pence) 4950
Exercise price (pence) 4700
Expected volatility 47 9%
Option Ltz (years) 70
Risk-free rate 4 1%
Expected dividend yield 4 3%
Value per option (pence) 177 2

The excected velatibty has been estimzted using the historical valatility of the share price over a four year peried The expected life
of the options has been adjusted, based on management s best estimate for the efracts of behavioural considerations and exercise
restrictions The Group recagnisad an expense of £0 1 mitlion (2009 £nil) relating te equity-settied share-based transactions in the
year and a carresponaing Increase o aguity

7  NET FINANCE COSTS

2410 2009
£m Em
Interest expense
Bank loans 183 227
Debenture tcans 47 47
Other interest - 03
Amartisation of 1ssue costs of icans 10 08
Foreign exchange variances 40 g7
Movement in fair value of dervative financial instruments
Interest rate swaps transactions not qualifying as hedges 37 (47
Interest rate caps, collars and fleors transactions not qualifying as hedges (0 &) 04
Interest incoma 61 (& 4)
2540 285
TAXATICN
2010 2009
£m Em
Current tax 44 21
Deferred tax {note 21) 44 (t0)
108 11

A deferred tax credit of £1 8 mulbion (2009 charge of £3 2 million) was recagnised directly in equity (note 21)

The charge for the year ciffars from the theoretical amount which weuld arise using the weighted average tax rate applicable to

profits of Group comzanies as follows

2010 2009

£m £m

Profit befare tax 709 185
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to profits in ine respective countrigs 201 L9
Expenses noi decuctitle for tax curpeses 15 G5
Tax effzct of unrecognised (profits)/losses in associates and |oint ventures (23) {87
Adjustment in respect of indexation allowance on UK properties (21) {32}
Other deferrad tax adjustments 04 {05}
Defarred .ax assets not recognisad a9 29
Adjustment in respect of prior periods (49} (28)
Tax expense for the year 108 1N

The weighted average applicable tax rate of 28 4 per cent (2009 24 3 per cent) was derived by applytng to their relevant profits and
losses the rates in the jurisdictions in which the Group operated
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9  EARNINGS PER SHARE

Management has chosen to disclose the European Public Real Estate Association (EPRA) measure of earmings per share (Best
Practices Recommendations October 2010), which has been provided to give relavant infoermation to investers on the long-term
pertormance of the Group s underlying business Tne EPRA measura excludes items wnich are non-recurring 10 nature such as
profits (net of relatec tax) on sale of investment progerties other non-current investments and emswhich have noimpact to
earmings gver their bfe such as tne change in fair value cf gerivative firancial instruments and the net movement on ravaluation of
invesiment properties and the ralated daferred tax on these iterns

2010 2009

Earnings £m £m
Profit for the period attributable to the owners of the Company 601 175
Revaluation (gains)/lcsses on investment croperties 301 67
Profit on sale of investment prozerties - (G 3}
Negative goodwill en share acquisitions n (28)
Change In fair value of derivative financial instruments K| (63)
Net gain on sale of corporate bonds and other investments {2 3) a9
Deferrec tax relating to the abcve adjustments 41 Gé
EPRA Earnings 278 135
2010 2009

Weighted average number of erdinary shares Number Number
Weighted average number of erdinary shares 47,280,274 48 249810
Dilutive share options? 13,339 -
Diluted weignted average number of arcinary shares 47,293,613 48,249 810
2010 2009

Earnings per Share Pence Pence
Basic 1271 364
Oiluted 1271 364
EPRA 58 8 280

t 300 GO0 share optiars were grantad on 11 March 2010 at an exerzise price of 470 pence

10 NET ASSETS PER SHARE

Management has chosen to etsclose the two European Public Real Estate Association (EPRA) mieasures of net asseats per share
(Best Practices Recommendations October 2010) EPRA net assets per share and EPRA tniple net assets per share The EPRA net
assets cer share measura nighlights tne {air vatue of equity on & long-term basis and so excludes items which have no impact on the
Group In the long term, such as fair value mavements of derwative financial instruments and movements on fair value of investment
properties, and assoclaied ceferred tax The EPRA triple net assets per share measure discloses net assets per share on 3 true fair
value basis all balance sheet items are included at therr fair value (n arriving at this measure including deferred tax, fixed rate loan
ltabilities and any other balanc= sheat items not reported at fair value

2010 2009

Net Assets €m £m
Basic net assets 357 2 3090

Dilutive impect of share options 14 -
Diluted net assets 358.8 3050
Adiustment to increase nixed rate debt to fair value (25.9) (26 1)
Coodwill as a result of daferred tax (11) amn
EPRA Triple Net Assets 331.46 2838
Deferrac tax on property and other non-current assets 48 4 667
Fair value or dervative financial instruments 157 154
Adjustrment ta decrzase fixed rate ceot to book value 259 241

EPRA Net Assets 441 6 3902
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2010 2009

Number Number

Numuoer of oréinary shares in circulation 46,588,244 48 024,256
Dilutive share optigns 300,000 -
Diluted number of ardinary shares In 1ssue 46,888,244  4B,024 256
2010 2009

Net Assets Per Share Pence Pence
Basic 7667 4433
Diluted 764 8 6433
EPRA 9418 8125
EPRA Triple Net 707 2 5910

11 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

London France Germany Sweden Total

£€m £m £m €m £m

Al 1 January 2010 3468 2228 1921 513 81340
Acguisitions 234 130 - - 36 4
Disposals ¢ 1) - - - {01)
Capital expenditure a1 25 26 0é 58
Net movement on revaluation of investment properties 48 178 82 07 301
Rent-free period debtor adjustments - - - 01 0.1
Exchange rate variances - (7 4) (6 4) 5.4 (8 4)
At 31 December 2010 3750 2487 196 5 56 7 876 ¢
Lendaon France Germany Sweden Totat

£m En Em Em £m

At 1 January 2009 3232 223 4 201 4 508 798 8
Acquisitions - 292 - - 262
Capital expenditure i3 23 177 21 23 4
Disposals - property sales (19) - - - (9
Net movemant on revaluation of investment properties 240 (159 (135) (13) (&7
Rent-free period debtor adjustments 02 - i0 03 15
Exchange rate vanances - (16 2) {14 5) (0 &) 313
At 31 December 2009 346 8 2228 1921 513 8130

The investmant properties (and the owner-occupied property detailed in noie 12) were revalued at 31 December 2010 to thair fair
value Valuations were basec on current prices in an acuve market for all properties Tne property valuations were carried out by
external, professionally qualified valuers as follows

London Lambert Smith Hampton

France Jones Lang LaSalle {2009 DTZ Debenham Tie Laung)

Germany Colliers International (2009 B7Z Debenham Tie Leung)

Sweden CB Richard Ellis

Investment properties included leasehold properties with a carrying amount of £19 & mullion {2009 £18 1 millian)

Where the Group leases out its investment property under operating leases the curation is typically three years or mare Na contingent
rents have been recognisec in the current ar comparative years

Substanbally al' investment properties (and the owner-cccupiec property detaileo in note 12) are secured against debt

During the year the Group purchased a croperty in Landan for £1 8 rmithen Under tne terms of the purchase agreement sheuld the
site bz developed additional consideration may become due to the vendor The maximum hability in respect of this 1s estimated to
be €0 5 million At the balance sheet date the fair value of tha Liability was £nil
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13

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2610 2009
£m £mn
Cost or valuation
Ati Januvary 68 b4
Acditions 03 01
Dispesals {18) -
Revzluation increasa 01 01
At 31 December 5.4 68
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January (4 3) (38)
Depreciation charge 0 3) 09)
Disposats 18 -
At 31 December (28) (£3)
Net book value
At 31 December 24 25

An owner-cccupied property was revalued at 31 Decemoer 2010 based on the external valuation performed by Lambert Smith

Hamoton as detailed in note 11

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Qther
Goodwall intangibles Tatal
£m £€m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2010 and at 31 Becember 2010 186 72 258
Amartisation
At 1 January 2010 and at 31 December 2010 {17 5) (72) (24 7)
Net book value
At 31 December 2010 11 - 11
Qther
Goodwall intangibles Total
£€m fm £m
Cost
At 1 January 2009 and at 31 Decamber 2009 186 72 258
Amortisation
At 1 January 2009 and at 31 December 2009 (i75) (72) (2¢7)

Net book value
At 31 December 2009

[

Gaodwill

Goodwill comprised £0 8 mittion (200§ £0 8 million) on the acauisition of a Frencn property partiolio in 2004 and £0 3 rmillian
(2007 £9 3 millien) on a Germzn property accwisiion in 2005 All other gocdwilt related to Wyatt Media Groug AB ana was fully

writtan cown in 2008

Other intangibles

Other intangtbles (relating to trade names technaology cusicmer relatianships capttalised development and other costs) relate to

Wyatt Media Group AB and were fully writien down during 2008
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2010 Impairment review

Gooawill was raviewed for impairment at 31 Becemuoer 2013 using ithe key assumptions set oui celow No impairmeant was
recuirec

Key assumptions

Unamortised goodwill at 31 December 2010 related to contingent daferrad tax arising on acquisitions of corporate entities for
which an equal deferred tax tiability was recognised in the balance sheet

2009 Impairment review

Goodwill was reviewed for impatrment at 31 Decemoer 2009 using the key assumptions sat aut oelow No impairment was
required

Key assumptions

Unamortised goodwill at 31 December 2009 related to contingent deferred tax arising on acquisitions of corporate enties for
which an equal deferred tax Liability was recegnised in tha balance sneet

JOINT VENTURES

At 31 Decemiber 2010 the Group had a one-third interest (2009 one-third) in the issued ordinary share capital of Fielden House
Investments Limited, @ company incorporated in Englang and Wales

The princigal actiity of Frelaen Heouse Investments Limited 1s investment in and management and develooment of commercial
praperty

The following amaounts represen. the Graup s share of the assets and liabilives, and income and expenditure of Flelaen House
Investments Limited which are incluoed in the balance sheet and siatement of comprehensive income of the Group

2010 2009
£€m £m
Assets
Non-current assets 1.9 18
Current assels 0.1 02
2.0 20
Liabilities
Current Liabilities (2.1) (02)
Nen-current liabilities (0 4) (25)
29 27
Net Liabilities (6 5) {07
Income 02 G2
Expenses {0 2) 02
Profit after tax - -
INVESTMENTS IN ASSGCIATES
Net assets Goadwill Total
£m £m £m
At 1 January 2010 3561 48 409
Additions a4 15 19
Share of profit of associates after tax 77 - 717
Other equity movements* (0 4) - (0 4)
Oistributions received (11.9) - (119
Exchange rate differences 1.9 05 24
At 31 December 2010 338 6.8 40 5
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15 INVESTMENTS IN ASSGCIATES (CONTINUED)

Neat assets Goodwilt Total
Em £m £m
At t January 2009 KA. 47 3¢ 3
Additions 17 a1 18
Share of profit of asscciates after tax 25 - 25
Other equity movements® 04 - 04
Dmidends recesved (15) - 5
Exchange rate cifferences (14) - (14)
At 31 December 2009 361 48 409
* Primarily foreign exchange movements of the associate undertakings
The Group s interasts 1n 1ts principal asscciates were as foltows
Bulgarian Land
Development Dther
Catena AB Plc assactates Tatal
At 31 December 2010 £m Em £tm €m
Interest held in ardinary share capital 29 9% 48 3% vartous
Revenues 45 (LR ] 02 55
Profit/(loss) after tax 94 un (1) 76
Realisation of negative goodwill on acquisition - 61 - 01
Share of profit/(loss) of associates after tax g4 (18) 01) 77
Assets 621 1758 02 798
Liabilities (37.8) &1 ©1) (46 0)
Net assets 243 94 g1 338
Goodwill B3 - 18 68
Investments in associates 294 4 16 40 46
Market value of interest 506 n/a nfa
Bulganian Lane
Development Other
Catena AB Pic associates Total
At 31 December 2005 Em £m £m £m
Interost held in ordinary share captital 29 8% 47 7% 400%
Revenues 51 21 - 72
Profit/{loss) after tax el (3 3) - (0 3)
Realisation of negative goodwill on acquisition - 28 - 28
Share of profit/{loss) of associates after tax 30 (G 5) - 25
Assets L6 4 27 4 - 938
Lizbilities (43 8) {139 - {87 7)
Net zssets 22 6 135 - 341
Goodwill 48 - _ 48
Investments 1n asscciates 274 i35 - 409
Market value of interest 261 43 nfa
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Catena AB

At 31 Decambear 2009 the Group had a 29 8 per cent interest in Catena AB, a listed Swecish property company Ouring 2010 the
Group acquirad a further B 1 per cent 2t a cost of £0 3 mitlien increasing the aggregate interest to 29 ? per cent Henry Klotz
Executive Vice Chairman of the Group, 1s the Chairman of Catena AB

During 2010 Catena returnec £9 9 mitlion (2009 £1 5 mulbion) to the Group in cash following sigmificant realisations of its property assets

Butgarian Land Development Pic

At 31 December 2009 «ne Group had a 47 7 per cent interest in Bulganan Land Developmeni Ple (BLD), a develaper of residential
and commercial real estate in Bulgaria Given the challenges of the Bulgarian property sector BLD s major sharehelders zgreed
that it should reduce running costs, effect an erderly dispasal of its assets, and disiribute the net proceeds in order to maximise
returns for shareholcers As a result 2.0 was de-listed from the Allernative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange on
19 August 2010 As part of the de-listing process the Group acquired a further 1 0 per cent of BLD for £0 1 mullien increasing the
aggregate terest to 48 7 per cent

In Decempar 2010 the Group received a return of capital of £2 0 million fram BLD by means of a tender oifer buy-back As the
tender was not fully subscribed the Group s interest in BLD fell to 48 3%

Other associates

Other associates comoprise associates of the Wyatt Media Group internet business, each incarporatad in Sweden

Impairment
2010

In assessing the carrying value of Catena AB the Group considerad that the batance sheet of Catena AB at 31 December 2010 was
stated at fair value except for certain deferred tax babilities It was management s assessment that the realtsation of Catena s
property assets would cccur threugh corporate disocsals and therefore latent deferred tax liabilities were unlikely to crystallise

As the Group s share of the net assets of Catena AB excluding deferred tax liabilinies, exceeded the carrying value of the Group s
interest there was no further impairment of the Group s Interest in Catena AB at 31 Becember 2010 Furthermare, the market value
ot the Graup s shares in Catena AB exceeded their carrying value by £21 0 mullion

BLO 1s carriec in tne balance sheat at a value equal to the Group s share of sts net assets BLD s net assets which were prepared
under IFRS were reviewed and found not to be impaired at 31 December 2010 Accordingly there was na turther provision against
the carrying value of the Group s interest in BLD at 31 Decemoer 2010

2009

The carrying value of Catena AR was assessac by management at 31 Decernber 2009 uncer the same methodology as in 2010
As the Group s share of the net assets of Catena AB excluding deferrad tax liabiliues, exceedec ine carmying value of the Group s
Iinterest there was no further impairment of the Group s interast in Catena AB at 31 December 2009

BLD s net assets which were preparad under FFRS, were reviswad and found not to be impairec at 3i December 2009 Accordingly
there was no further provision against the carrying value of the Group s interesi in BLD at 31 December 2009
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14 OTHER INVESTMENTS

2010 200%
£m £m
Available-for-sale financial iInvestments carried at fair value
Listed corparate bonds UK 375 171
Eurozone 241 400
Other 1465 129
Listed equity securitres UK 65 04
Sweden 24 25
Other 61 0
Unlisted investrnents Sweden 04 06
Covernment securities UK a1 01
8164 739
The movement of ather iInvestments 1s analysed below
2010 2009
£m £m
At 1 January 739 P43
Additions 527 707
Dispasals 32 1) (23 4)
Fair value movemants recognised in reserves on avallable-for-sale assets 31 125
Fair value movements recognised in profit before tax on avallable-{cr-sale assets {8 5) 10
Exchange rate variaions (05) (12)
At 31 December 816 739

The table below gives an analysis of the valuation meathods used to measure the fair value of the other investments grouped into
Levels 1 {0 3 based on the degree to which the fair value 15 observable

2010 2009

£Em Em

Level 1 - quoted unacjusted market prices 31 33
Lavel 2 - veluation from observable market data* 781 G0
Level 3 - other valuation mathods* a4 04
814 73¢

t Includes £12 B millon {2009 £5 7 rmillion) of corporate bonds priced directly from market makers in these bonds
* Unlisted equity shares valued using multiptes from cemparable bisted organisations
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DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

2010 2010 2009 2009
Assets Liabiities Assets Liabiittes
£m £m fm £m
Non-current

Interast rate swaps - (17 3) - -
Interest rate caps and floors 44 - 01 -
46 (19 3) 01 -

Current )
tnterast rate swaps - - - (157
Forward foreign exchange contracts - (10) - -
- (10) - (157
L4 (20 3) 01 (&7

The valuation methads usec to measure ihe rair vatue of all dervative tinancial iInstruments were grouped into Level 2, being
derwed from inpuis which were either observable as prices or derived from prices

There were no derwvative financial instruments accounted for as hedging instrumants

Interest rate swaps

The notional pnincipal oi the main interest rate swap contract at 31 December 2010 was £85 0 mutlion (2009 £85 0 million)
This swap matures in 20246 anc during the period to maturnity there 1s a singte date in 2012 on which 1t can be cancelled by the
counterparty at no cost to the counterparty Both pariies can cancel the swap at market value 1n 2017 and 2022 The {air value
of this swap at 31 December 2010 was a bacility of £12 7 million (2009 £%9 9 millien)

The aggregate not:onal principal of all other outstanding interest rate swap contracts at 31 December 2010 was £48 5 million
(2009 £78 4 millian) The average perniod to maturity of these interest rate swacs was 5 1years (2009 3 5 years)
Forward foreign exchange contracts

The Group uses forward foreign exchange contracts from time to time to add certainty to, and ta minirmise the impact of foreign
exchange movements on, committea cash flows At 31 December 2010 the Group had £27 0 million of cutstanding net foreign
exchange contraces (2009 £5 4 million)

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2010 2009
£m £m

Current
Trade recavabies 35 28
Prepayments a7 0g
Accrued incoma . a5 22
Other cebters k¥:} 44
115 104

There was no concentratien of credit risk with respact to irade recaivasles as the Group hac a large number of tenants spread
across the couniries in which 1t operated

Tnere were no material ‘rade and other recewvables classified as past cue but not impaired (2009 none) No trade and cther
recelvables were inierest-seaning
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19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

29010 2009

£m £m

Cash at bank and in hand 239 470
Shert-term bank depesns 24 4 233
483 703

At 31 December 2010, Greup cash at bank and 1 hanc includad £6 &4 mitlion (2009 £13 8 million) of cash deposits which weare
restricted by a third-oarty charge

Cash and shari-term depostis are invested at floating rates of interest based on relevant national LIBID and base rates or
equivalents in the UK France Germany and Sweden

The cash and cash equivalents currency profile was as follows
Cash at bank Short-term

and inhand deposits Total

At 31 December 2010 £m £m £m
Sterling 134 75 211
Euro 92 a2 24
Swedish Krona 11 167 178
239 24 4 483

Cacsh at bank Short-term

and in hana depcsits Total
At 31 Decernber 200% Em £m Em
Sterling 185 2290 405
Euro 245 i3 258
Swedish Krona 40 - 40
470 233 703
20 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
2010 2009
£m £m
Current
Trade payables 16 19
Seocial security and other taxes 21 78
Other payables b4 54
Accruals 128 121
Deferrec tncome 89 g9
318 301
21 DEFERRED TAX
2010 200%
£m Em
Deferreg -ax assets
- after mora than 12 months (11.2) (127
Deferres .ax babilities
- after more than 12 months 745 723
633 5% 4
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The movement in deferred tax was as follows

2010 2009

£m £m

At 1 January 594 610
Charged{{credired) to the tax charge in ihe statemeant of comarehensive income &4 (10)
(Credited)/charged to equity (18) 32
Exchange rate variances 9) (3 4)
At 31 December 633 5% 6

The movement 1n deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year without taking into consideration the offseiting of balances
within the same tax Jurisdiction was as follows

Tax losses Qther Total
Deferred tax assets €m €m £€m
At 1 January 2010 {(71) (5 8) zmn
{Credited)/charged to the tax charge in the statement of comprehensive income 20 (05) 1.5
At 31 December 2010 (51) 61N 112
Tax losses Qther Total
Deterred tax assets Em £€m £m
At 1 January 2009 (54) (70) {124)
{Credited)/charged to the tax charge in the statement of comarehensive Income a7 14 (G 3)
At 31 Decemper 2009 (7 1) (5 8) (127)
Fair value
adjustments to
UK capital investment
allowances praoperties Qther Total
Deferred tax lahilities £€m &m £m €m
At 1 January 2010 121 565 37 723
(Credited)/charged to the tax charge in the statement of comprehensive income (1 9) 67 01 49
Credited to equity - - (18) (18}
Exchange rate variances - {0.9) - {0 9}
At 31 December 2010 102 623 2.0 745
Fair value
adjustrments to
UK capntal Invesiment
allowarncas praperties Other Total
Deferred tax Labilities Em £Em £m Em
At 1 January 2009 122 605 07 734
Credited to the tax charge in the statement of comprehensive income en (0 4) (02) {07
Charged to equity - - 32 3z
Exchange rate variances - (38) - (36)
At 31 Decemnber 2009 121 565 37 723

Deferred tax assets are recognised In respect of tax losses carried forward to the extent that the realisation of the ralated tax benefit
through future “axable profits 1s probable A 31 December 2010 the Group did not recognise deferrad tax assets of £4 7 million
(200% €7 8 mullion) in respect of losses amounting to £20 2 million (2009 €40 6 million} which can pe carriea fcrward against
fuiure taxable inccme or gains The majonity of deferred tax assets recogmsed witnin the “other™ category relate to ceferred tax on
swaps with a negative book value Losses recognisea as deferrad tax assets can be carried forward without restriction

On 1 April 2011 the UK corporation tax rate reduces from 28% t0 27% As thts has been substantively enacted at the calance sheet
date the UK deferrad tax assets and liabilities have been calculated at a rate ot 27% The impact on net assets for 2010 as a rasult
of this change was an increase of £0 & million It1s expected that UK tax rates will reduce to 24% by 1 April 2614 A further 1% fall
in the rate of UK tax would increase net assets by £0 4 million
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Total

Current  Non-current horrawings

At 31 December 2010 £m £m £m
Bank loans 814 4615 543 1
Debenture loans 11 330 341
Zero coupon note - 98 28
Other loans 23 - 23
850 504 3 589 3

Tatal

Current  Nan-current borrowings

At 31 December 2009 £m £m fm
Bank loans 1125 4341 546 &
Debenture loans 10 341 i
Zero coupon note - 88 28
Cther loans - 23 23
135 479 3 5928

Arrangement fees of £3 0 rmullion (2009 £2 ¢ million) have been offset in arriving at the balancas inthe above tables

Bank laans

Interest on bank loans is charged at fixad rates ranging between 4 9 per cent and 11 2 per cent including margin (2009 4 9 per
centand i1 2 per cent) and at floating rates of typically LIBOR EUR!BOR or STIBOR plus a margin Fixed rate margins range
between 0 8 per cent and 1 8 per cent (2009 0 8 per cent and 1 8 per cent) and floating rate margins range between 1 0 per cent
and 3 0 per cent {2009 08 per cant and 3 0 per cent) All bank loans are secured by legal cnarges cver the respective properties,
and tn maost cases a floating charge aver tha remainder of the assets held in the company which cwns the property In addition the
share capital of same of the subsiciaries wathin the Group has been chargad

Debenture loans

The debenture lozns represent amortising bonds wnich are repayable in equal quarterly instalments of £1 2 million (2009 £1 2 million)
with final repayment due i January 2025 Each instalment is apportioned between principal and interest on a reducing balance
basis Interest s charged at an annuat fixed rate of 10 8 per cent, including margin The debentures are secured by & legal charge
aver a property and sacunbisatien of its rental income

Zero coupon note

The zero coupon note accrues interest at an annual rate of 11 2 per cent, including margin It I1s unsecurec and I1s redeemable as a
balicon repayment of principal and interest of £43 7 million in aggregate in February 2025

Qther loans

Interest on other loans)s at a vaniable rate ranging between 2 0 per cent and 4 0 per cent {2009 2 0 per cant and 4 O per cent) per
annum camgprising LIBOR plus a margin The toans are secured by legal charges over the assets of the borrowing suosidiaries
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Loan covenants
There were no covenant breaches at 31 December 2010 or at 31 Decemper 2009

The matunty profile of tne carrying amount of the Group s borrowings at 31 Decamzer was as follows

Debenture  Zero coupen

Bank leans loans note  QOther loans Tatal
At 31 December 2010 £m £m Em £m £m
Within one year or en demand 82.4 i1 - 23 858
Mare than one but not more than two years 126.2 i2 - - 127 4
Mare than two but not more than five years 204.4 45 - - 2089
Mare than five years 1331 273 g8 - 170 2
546 1 341 98 23 592 3
Unamortised 1ssue costs (30) - - - (30)
Borrowings 5431 341 §8 23 5893
Less amount due for settlement within 12 months {81 6) (n - (2 3) (B85 Q)
Amounts due for settlement after 12 manths 4615 330 %8 - 504 3

Debenture  Zero coupon

Bank loans loans note Gther loans Total
At 37 Dacemnber 2009 - £m Em £m £m Em
Within ane year or an demand 1131 10 - - 1141
Mare than one but not more than twa years 273 11 - 23 307
More than two but not more than five yzars 2007 40 - - 204 7
More than five years 208 4 290 88 - 2462

5495 KRR 88 23 5957

Unamortised 1ssue costs 2% - - - (2%
Borrawings 5466 351 88 23 5928
Less amount due for settlement within 12 months (1125 o - - (1135}
Amounts dua for settlement after 12 months 434 1 341 88 23 4793

The interast rate risk profile of tha Group s fixea rate borrowings was as follows

At 31 December 2010 At 31 December 2009
Weighted Weighted Wesghted Weighted
average average average average
fixed rate peried for fixed rate periad for
of financial  which rate s of fimancial  which rate1s
Labilities fixed liabilities freed
% Years % Years
Sterling 65 54 65 66
Euro 43 22 43 3t

The interest rate risk profile of the Group s tloating rate borrowings was as follows

At 31 December 2010 At 31 December 2009

Average Average

capped capped
% of net nterest Average % of net interest Average
floating rate rate tenure  floating rate rate lenure
loans capped %k Years loans cappec % Years
Sierling 56 27 50 100 39 a7
Euro 86 47 10 100 47 16
Swedish Krona 100 27 29 - nfa nfa
US Dotlar - n/a n/a n/a r/a n/a
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BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

In 2010, the Group entered into certain inizrest rate caps with forward start cates of January and Apnl 2011 to replace intarest rate
swaps and caps due to expire on these dates The impact cf these transactions produces a pro forma position a2t April 2011 of

Pra forma at 30 April 2011

Average

capped
% of net interest Average
floating rate rate tenure
loans capped % Years
Sterling b4 25 46
Euro 93 32 41
Swedish Krona 100 27 27
Us Dollar - n/a n/a

The carrying amounts of the Group s borrowings are dencminated in the following currencies

Fixed rate  Floating rate

financiak financial
labilities Liabilities Total
At 3% Decernber 2010 Em £m £m
Sterling 155 2 AN 244 8
Euro 11746 i858 303 4
Swedish Krona - 333 333
Us Dollar - 5.8 58
272.8 314.5 58?3

Fixedrate  Fleating rate

financial financial
Liaoilities liabilities Total
At 21 Dacember 200% Em £m £m
Sterling 154 2 1154 285 &
Euro 123 8 1651 2889
Swedish Krona - 3423 343
2780 3148 5928
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group s borrowings are as follows
Carrying amounts Fair values
2010 2009 2010 2009
£m £m £m Em
Current borrowings 85.0 1135 850 1439
Mon-current borrowings 504 3 479 3 530 2 503 4
589 3 592 8 615.2 41469

Arrangement faes ai £3 0 million (2009 £2 § million) have bean ofiset in arriving at the balances in the above table

The fair value ot non-current borrowings represen.s the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchancecinanarms
tengih transaction between informed anc witling parties, discounted at the prevailling markzt rate and excludes accrued intarest

Tne Group has thz follewing undrawn committed facitities available at 31 December

2010 2009
£Em £m
Floating rate
- expiring within one year - G4
- expiring aiter one year - 69
- 15
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23 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

23 1 Categories of financial instruments

Financial zssets of the Group comprise

Interest rate swaps and caps

Fareign currency swaps and forward contracts
Avallable-for-sale investmeants

nvestments in assccistes

‘frade and other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Fimancral babitities of the Group comprise

-

Interest rate swaps and caps

Fareign currency swaps and farward contracts
Bank loans

Debenture loans

Other loans

Trade and other payables

Provisions

Currant tax haoilities

The fair values of financial assets and Labilities are determined as follows

(a)

(b}

{c)

(d)

(2)

Interest rate swaps and caps are measured at the present value of future cash flows basec an applicable yield curves
derived from guoted interest rates

Foraign currency swaps and forward contracts are measured using quoted forware exchange rates and yield curves
derived irom quoted interest rates matching maturities of the contracts

The fair value of non-cerivative financial assets and iabilities witn standard terms and cenditions and traded on active
liguid markets are determined witn reference *o quotad market prices Financial assets in this category include
availeble-for-sale mnstruments such as listad cerporate bonds and equity iInvesiments

In mora tliquig condittiens, non-dervative financiat assets are valued using multiple quetes obtained from market
makars Where the spread of prices is tightly clustered the cansensus orice 1s deemed to be fair value Where prices
becoma more disparsad or thera 15 a lack of available quoted data, further procedures are undertaken such as evidence
from the last non-forcec t-ade

The fair value of other nan-derivative financial assets and financial Liabilities are determined in accordance with
generally accapted pricing maodels based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from observable current market
transactions and dezler quetes for similar instruments

Except for investments in asscciates bank loans debenture loans, ather loans and ninance tease liabibties, the carrying
amounts of financial assets and Liabilities recorded at amortised cost approximate to their far value
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23 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

23 2 Capital nsk management

The Grouc manages Its capital to ensure «nat entities within the Group will be able to continue as going concerns while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the ootimisabien of debt anc equity balances Tne capital structure of the
Group conststs of debt cash and cash equivalents anc equity attnbutable to the owners of the carent comprising 1ssued
capital, reserves and retained earnings Management perform “stress tests of the Group s business model to ensure that
the Group s objectives can be met The objactives have been met in the year

The Directors review the capital siructure on a guarterly basis to ensure that key strategic goals are bewng achieved As part
of tnis review they consider the cost of capiial and the risks associated with each class of capital

The gearing ratio at the year end was as follows

2010 2069

£m Em

Debt 5923 595 7
Cash and cash equivalents {48 3) {70 3}
Nat debt 544 0 925 4
Equity 3572 3060
Net debt to equity ratio 152% 170%

Debt 1s defined as long and shert-term borrowings excluding unamortised ssue costs as detailed in nate 22 Equity includes
all capital and reserves ot the Group attributable to tha owners of the Company
Externally imposed capital requirement

The Grous 1s not subject to externally imgosed capital requirements except to the extent that cabt covenants may require
group companias to maintain raties such as deet to equity (or similar) below certain levels

23 3 Risk management abjectives

The Groug s activities expose it to a vanety of itnancial risks which can be grouped as
s market nsk,

¢ creditnsk and

s hguidity nsk

The Group s overall risk management approach seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group s financial
periormance whilst mamntaining tlexibility

Risk management 1s carried out by the Group Treasury department in clase co-operation with the Group s operating units
and with guidance from the Board of Directers The Board regularly assesses and reviews the financial nisks and exposures
of the Group

(a) Market risk

The Groug s actvities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in interest rates ane foraign currency exchange
rates and to a lesser extent other price risk The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to
manage Its expesure to Interest rate and foraign currency risk and also uses natural hedging strategies such as
matching the duration interest payments and currency of assets and liabilitias

(1) Interest rate risk

The Group s mast significant interest rate risk arises from its long-term variable rate borrowings Interest rate rigk
1s ragularly monitcred by the Grouo Treasury department and by the Boarc an both a country and 2 Groue basis Tha
Board s policy 1s to minimise variable interest rate exposure whilst maintaining the tlexibility to borrow at the pest
rates and with consiaeration to poiential penalties on termunation of fixad rate loans To manage 11g exposure the
Group uses interest rate swaps, Interest ratz caps and natural hedging from cash held on deposit

In assassing risk, a range of scenarios is taken into consideration such as refinancing renawal of existing positions
and alternative financing and hedging Under these scenarios the Grous calculates the smpact on the Statement of
Camprehensive Income for 2 defined movement in the underlying interest rzte The impacs of a rzasonably likely
maovement 10 interest rates Is set cut below
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2010 2009

Statement of Statement of

Comprehensive Comprenensive

Income Income

Scenano £m Em

Casn +50 basis points (2009 +100 basis ponts) 02 09
Variable borrowings (including caps} +50 basis pomnts

(2005 +100 basis points) (15 27

Cash -50 basis paints (2009 -100 basis pamis) 02 ()]
Variable borrowings (including caps) -50 basis points

(200% -50 basis points) 15 13

Foreign exchange risk

Tne Grouo does not have any reguiar transactional fore:gn exchance exposure However i has cperations in Eurone
which transact business denorminatad 1n euros and to a lesser extent in Swedish kronor Cansequently, there is
currancy exposure caused by translating the local tracing performance and net assets into sterbing for sach
financial period and balance sheet, respectively

The policy of the Group 1s to match the currency of investments with tha related borrawing which largely ebminates
foraign exchange risk on property invesiments A portion of the remaining operations egquating to the net assets of
the fareign property operatians 1s not hedged Where fareign exchange risk anises from future commercial
transactions, the Group will hedge the future committed commercial transaction using foreign exchange swaps ar
ferward foreign exchange contracts

The Group s orincipal currency expesures are In respect of the euro and the Swedish krona If the valuz of sterling
were to Increase or decrease In strength the Group s net assets and profit for the year would be affected The impact
of a 1% increase or decrease 1n the strength of sterling against these currencies 1s set out below

2010 2010 20C% 200%

Profit Prafit

Scepane Net assets before tax Net assets before tax
€m £m Emn Em
1% increase in value of sterling against the euro (14) 03 (14) (01
1% increase in vaiue of sterling against the Swedish krona (05) 01 (0 4) on
1% fall in value or sterling against the suro 16 03 14 01
1% fall in value of sterling against the Swedish krona 133 01 03 01

Other price risk

The Groug 1s exposed to corporate bond price risk and to a lesser extent, to equity securities price nsk, because of
investments held by the Group and classified in tne balance sheet as available-for-sale

In arder 10 manage the rnisk in relation to tne haldings of corporate boncs and equity securities the Group helds a
dwersified perifolio Diversification of the porifolio 1s managed in accardance with the mits set up by the Group

The table below shows the effect cn equity which would result from an increase or decrease of 10% 1n tha market
value of carporate bands and equity securities, which 15 an amount managemeant believes to be reasonable in the
current markat

2010 200%

Diractly Directly

In equity n equity

Scenang Shift of 10% in valuations £m Em
10% fall in value (82) (7 4)
10% increase in value 82 74
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(b) Creditrisk

Credit risk refers to the risk *hat 2 counterparty will default on its contractual abligations resulting in financial loss to
the Group Credit nisk anises from the ability of \enants to meet outstanding recevacles and future lease commitments
and from financial institutiens with which the Group places cash and cash equivalents, and enters Into derwative
fingnzialinsiruments Tha maxmum expesure to cradit risk 1s partly representec by the carmeng amounts of the
financizl assels which ara carried in the balance sheet including derwvatives with positive fair values

For credit exposure other than to tenants, the Diractors believe that countergarty risk 1s mimimised to the fullest extent
possible as the Group has policies which imit the amount of credit exposure to any indivicual financial institution

The Group has policies in place to ensure that rental contracts are made with tenants with an appropriate credit history
Credit risk to tenants 1s assessed by a process of internal and external credu scoring, and 1s reduced by obiaining bank
guarantees from the tenant ar 1is parent, and receipted rental deposits Tne overalt credit sk in relation to tenanis 1s
moniterad en an ongoing basis Moreover, a signiiicant propertion ot the Group sarticlic 1s let to Gavernment tenants
which can be constcered financially secure

At 31 December 2010 the Group held €81 6 million (2009 £73 ¢ million) of available-for-sale and other financial assets
Management of the Group considers the ¢credit nsk assaciated with incividual transactions and monitors the risk on a
continuing basis Information 1s gathered from external credit rating agencies {Standard & Poor s) and other market
sources to allow managemeani to react to any perceived change in the underlying credit nisk of the instruments (in which
the Group invests This allews the Group to mimimise 1ts credit exposure to suen 1.ems ane at the same time to maximise
returns for shareholcers

The table below shows the external Standard & Poer s credit bancing on the available-for-sale and other investments
held by the Group

2010 2009
S&P Credit rating at balance sheet date £m Em
Investment grade 24 6 420
Non-investment grade 26 2 238
Not rated 308 g1
Total 816 736

(c) Liquidity risk

Liguidity risk management requires maintaining sufiicient cash cother liquid assets and the availability of funding to
meet short, medium ana leng-term requiremants The Group mamtains adequate levels of iquid asseats to fund
operations and to atlow the Group ta react quickly to potential opportunsties

Management monitars rolling forecasts of the Group s licuidity on the basis o expected cash flow so that future
recuiraments can be managed efiectively

The majority of the Group s debt s arranged on an assat-specific, nan-recourse basis This allows the Group a higher
degree of flexibility in dealing with potential covenant defaults than if the debt was arranged under a Group-wide
barrowing facility

Lean covenant compliance 1s clasely monitorec by the Group Treasury department Potential covenant breaches can
ordinarily ce avoidac oy placing additienal secunity or a cash deposit with the lender, or by partiat regayment befors an
event ol defaull takes place Thers wera no potanuzl loan-to-value covanant breaches at 31 Decamber 2010

The {able below analyses the Group s contractual undiscounted casn flows payable under financial Labilives and
derivative assets ana liabilinies at the balance sheet date into relevant maturity groupings basec cn the period
remaining to the contractual maturity date Amounts due within one year are equivalent ta the carrying values in the
balance sheet as the impact of discounting 1s not significant

Lessthan 1 year Tlo2years 2toSyears OverSyears
At 31 December 2010 £m £m Em £m

Non-derivative financial Liabilities

Borrowings 858 127 4 2089 170 2
Interest payments on borrowings’ 234 198 42 6 55 1
Trade and other payables 318 - - -
Forward fareign exchange contracts

Cash flow hedges

= Qutflow 270 - - -
- Inflow (26 0) - - -
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Less than i year 1t 2years 2to5years  QverSyears
At 3+ December 2009 £m £ £m £m
Nen-denivative financial hiabilities
Berrowings 1141 07 204 7 2462
Interest payments on borrowings® 235 242 562 726
Trade and oiher payacles 301 - - -
Forward foreign exchange conltracts
Cash flow hedges
~ Qutflow 54 - - -
= Inflow (54) - - -

1 Interest payments en barrowings arz catculated wathout taking into azcount future events Floating rata interest ts estimated using a future

intarest rate curve as at 31 Dacember

SHARE CAPITAL

Number
Ordinary
Ordinary Tetal shares in Treasury Total ardinary
sharesin Treasury ardinary arcelatien shares shares
ctreulation shares shares £m £m £m
At 1 January 2010 48,024,256 5,000,000 53,024,255 120 13 13.3
Cancelled following tender offers (1,643,012) = {1,643,012) {0 4) - {0.4)
Ordinary shares i1ssued from treasury shares 207,000 (207,000) - a1 (01) -
At 31 December 2010 46,588,244 4,793,000 51,381,244 17 12 129
Number
Ordinary
Ordinary Tatal shares In Treasury Tatal ordinary
shares in Treasury ordinary arculahion shares shares
circelation shares shares £m Em £m
At 1 January 2009 41,745,471 5,000,000 46,7454T1 154 13 167
Cancelied following tender offer (13,721,215) - {13,721,215) (34) - (34)
At 31 December 200° 48,024,256 3,000,000 33,024 256 120 13 133

TENDER OFFER BUY-BACKS

A tender offer by way of a Circular dated 23 March 2010 for the purchase of 1 in 48 shares at 60C pence per share was comupleted in
April 1t returned £6 0 mitbien to sharshelders equivalent to 12 5 pence per share

Atender offer by way of a Circular dated 19 August 2010 for the purchase of 11n 74 shares at 425 pence per share was cempleted
in September It returned £4 0 millien to shareholders aquivalent to 8 3 pence per share

Afurther tender offer will be put to shareholders in April 2011 for the purchase of 11n 46 shares at a price of 700 pence per share

wnich, 17 approved, will return £7 1 million ta shareholders, equivalent to 15 2 pencea per share

SHARE PREMIUM ACCOUNT

2010 2009

tm Em

At 1 January 70.5 75
Ordinary shares 1ssued from ireasury shares 1.0 -
At 31 December AR 05
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OTHER RESERVES

Capital Cumnulative
redemption transiation Fair value Other
reserve reserve reserve reserves Total
£m €m £m £m £m
At 1 fanuary 2010 20 4 507 5.8 281 105 0
Purchase of own shares
- cancellatton pursuant to tender offer 04 - - - 04
Exchange rate variances - 11 - - 11
Share of exchange rate variances of associates - (0.4) - - (0 4)
Available-far-sale financial assets
- net fair value gains in the year - - (5 4) - {5 4)
- deferred tax thereon - - 18 - 18
At 31 December 2010 208 514 2.2 281 1025
Capital  Curnulative
redempaon translation Fair value Other
resarve reserve reserve reserves Total
£m £m £m Em Em
AtY January 2009 170 598 (&9) 281 004
Purchase of own shares
- cancellation pursuant to tender offer 34 - - - 34
Exchange rate vanances - (9 5) - - (9 5)
Share of exchange rate vanances of associates - 04 - - 04
Available-fer-sale financizl assets
- net fair value gains in the year - - 135 - 135
- daferred tax thereon - - 32) - (32)
At 31 December 2009 204 507 58 281 1050

The amaouni classified as other reserves was creatad prior to bisting 1n 1995 on a Group reconstruction and 1s considered o oe

non-distributable

CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

2010 2009
E£m Em
Operating profit 882 415
Adjustments for
Net movernants an revaluation of investment properiies (30 1) 67
Depraciation anc amortisation 03 05
Profit on disposal of investment properties - (0 3)
Gain on disposal of corporate conds and other investments (% 3) 2n
Snara-based payment axpensea 01 -
Changes in working capital
Decrease/(increase) in debtors 05 Q7
Increase in craditars 15 01
Cash generated from operations 512 427
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CONTINGENCIES

At 31 December 2010 CLS Holdings pic had guaranteed certain Liabilities of Group companias Tnesa wera erimarily in relation to
Group borrowings and covered interast and amortisation payments Nao cross guarantaas haa neen given by the Group In relation to
the principal amounts ct these borrowings Cartain warranties given in the caurse of cerporate sales during 2008 either have been
previced for or are too remote o be considered contingent

COMMITMENTS

The Group leases office space under non-cancellable cperating lease agreements The future aggregate minimum lease payments
under thesa non-cancellable operating leases are as follows

2010 2009
Oparating tease commitments - where the Group 1s the lessee £m £m
Within ane year - g1
Mare than one but not more than five years 04 |
Mare than five years 07 g3
11 0s

Al the balance sheet daie the Group had contractec with tenants far the following mimmum lease payments
2010 2009
Operatng lease commitments — where the Group 15 lessor £m £m
Within cne year 637 599
Mare than one but not mara than five years 2192 204 2
Mare than five years 2570 248 6
539 9 5327

Operating leases where the Group is the lessor are typically negotiated on a tenant-by-tenant nasis and include break clauses and
indexation provisions

Other commitments

At 31 December 2010 the Group had no ather commitrments (2009 £nil) There were no authorised financial commitments which
were yet 10 be contracted with third parties (2009 none)

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A Group company Forvaltnings AZ Xlio, rents offica space from a company owned by Sten Mortsieat Executive Chairman

of CLS Holdings plc The total payable in the year was £36 000 (2009 £34 000) A company ownec by Sten Mortstedt purchased
accountancy serices from Forvaltnings AB Klio during the year amounting te £% 000 (2C09 £8 00C) In relation te these
iransactions £26,000 was payatle at the balance sheet date (2009 £3,000) A Group company CL5n Management Limited
proviced accounting services to Bulgaran Land Development Plc an assaciate of the Group, for wnich a charge of £16,000
was made In the year (2009 £nil) and remained outstanding at the balance sheet cate
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PRINCIPAL SUBSIBIARIES

The group financial statements include the financial statements of CLS Holdings plc and all of its subsidiaries the principal ones
of which are listed below

The Directors cansider tnat to give full particulars of all suosidiary undertakings would lead to a statament of excessive length The
following information relates to those wholly-owned subsidiary companies whose results or {inancial position, 1n the oginion of the
Directors principally affectad those of the Group

Adlershofer Sarl* Grossglockner Sarl* New Printing House Square Limited
Apex Tawer Limited Ingrove Limited Spring Gardens Limited

Coventry Hause Limited Kapellen Sarl™ Vanerparken Prooerty Invesiment KB***
Freres Peugeoi SCI Museien Forvaltnings AB**~ Vauxhall Cross Limited

Great Wast House Limited Narcpere Sarl”

' Incorporated in Luxembourg
Incorperated in France
*  Incorperated in Sweden

The principal activity of each of these subsidiaries 1s prooerty investment, apart fram Coventry Housa Limited and Museion
Fervaltnings AB whase principal activities are to act as investmant companies All of the above subsidiary undartakings are
incorperated in the United Kingdom unless stated otherwise To comply with the Companies Act 2006 a full list of subsidiaries will
be filed with the Company s next annual return
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE
MEMBERS OF CLS HOLDINGS PLC

We have auaiteq the parent comeany financial statements of CLS Holdings ple for the year ended 31 December 2010 which comprise
the calance sheet and the related notes 1 to 14 The financial reporting framework that has been agplied in their preparaiien 1s
applicable law and Unitea Kingdam Accounting Standards {United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice)

This report 1s made solely to the Company s members, as a body in acce-dance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 Qur
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company s members those matters we are required 1o state to them in an
auditor s report and for no other purpose To tne fullest extant permitted cy law we do nat accept or assume responsibilliy io anyone other
than the Company and the Company s memkers as a bocy far our audit work for this repart, or for the epinions we have formed

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors Responsibilities on page 30, the Directars are responsiole for the preparation of
the parant company financial statements and for being satisiied that they give a true and fair view Qur responsibility 1s to aucit and express
an opinion on the parent company financial statements in accordance with applicacle law and International Standards on Auditing (UK
and Ireland) Those standards require us to comply with *he Auditing Practices Board s {AP2 s) Ethical Standards for Auditars

SCOPE OF THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

An audit involves obtaining ewdence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficent to give reasonatle
assurance that the financial statements are free from matenal misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error This includes an
assessment of whether the accounting colicies are agpropriate to the parent company s circumstances and have been consistently
appliea and adequately disclosed, the reasconableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Directors, and the averall
presentation of the financial statements

OPINION ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In our opinien the parent company financial staterments

« gwive 3 true and fair view of the state of the parent company s affairs as at 31 Oecemper 2010

* have baen properly precared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Praztice and
* have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

OPINION ON OTHER MATTERS PRESCRIBED BY THE COMPANIES ACT 2004

In our apnion

= the part of the Directors Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act
2006 anc

» the information given in the Directors Repert tor the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared Is consistent
with the parent company financial statements

MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE REQUIRED TO REPORT BY EXCEPTION

We have nothing to report 1n respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to repart to you if in our opinton

+ adequate accounting recards have not been kapt by the parent company, or returns adeguate for our audit have not been received
from brancnes not wisited by us cr

» the parent company financial statements ane tne part of the Directers Remuneration Report to be audired are not in agreement
with the accounting records and returns or

s certain disclosures of directors remuneration spacified by law are not made or

s we have not received all the information and explanauons we recuire for our audit

OTHER MATTER

Londen
7 March 2011




COMPANY BALANCE SHEET - UK GAAP

At 31 December 2010

2010 2009
Notes £m fm
Fixed assets
Investment v subsidiary undertakings 5 1055 905
Current assetis
Trade and other recewvables & 320 495
Tatal assets 1375 1400
Current abilities
Trade and other payables 7 (4 4) {4 4)
Net assets 1331 1326
EQUITY
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 8 129 133
Share premium account 9 s 705
Other reserves 10 254 250
Profit and loss account 10 233 268
Shareholders’ funds 13341 1328

These financial statements of CLS Haldings plec (registered number 2714781) were approved by the Board of Directors and authorsed

forissue on 7 March 2011 and were signed on 1ts behalf by

Mr S A Mortstedt
Director




Report of the Directers Property Portfolio Governance Financial Statements cLS Holdlngs p{c

Annual Report & Accounts

NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
- UK GAAP

at 31 December 2010

1  GENERAL INFORMATION

These separate financial statements have been prepared under UK GAAP in accordance with applicable accounting standards
under the histcrical cost conventien and are presented as raquired by the Companies Act 2004 The following accounting policies
have been applied consistently throughout tne year and the oreceding year unless otherwise stated CLS Heldings plc 1s the
ultimate parant comoany of the CLS Haldings group Its primary activity (which occurs axclusively i the United Kingdom) 1s to hold
shares in subsidiary companias

The Directars have a reasonable expactation thal the Company has adeguate resources to continue In operational existence for the
foreseeable future Accordingly they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the annual report and accounts as
detailed in the Directors Repert on pages 21to 24

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting poticies are summarisec below They have sll seen applied consistently throughout the year and the
preceding year

21 Investment in Group Companies

Investments are valued at cost less provisions for impairment If the equity value of the investmant 15 lower than cest the
valuation I15 adjusted accordingly provided that managament considers this to be a permanent diminution in value Dividend
income 1s recognised when received

22 Pension costs

The Company opera.es a defined centnibution pension scneme for all eligible employees The pension costs charged
recresant the contributions payabte Differences between contributions payable in the year and contributions actually
paid are shown as either accruzls or prepayments in tne balance sheat

23 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as egquity

Incremental costs cirectly attributable te the 1ssue of naw shares or options are shown in equity as 2 deduction, net of tax
from proceecs

Where 2 Group company purchases the Company s equity share capital, the consideration paid inctucing any directly
attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes), 1s decucted from equity attributable to the owners of the Company until
the shares are cancelled, reissuead or disposed of Where such shares are subsaquently sold or reissued any consideration
receved, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related incoma tax effects 1s includec in
equity attribu*able to the owners of the Cornpany

2 4 Related party transactions

Advantage has been taken of the exemption allowed in FRS 8 not to disclose transactions with entities which are whally
owned within the group where consalidated accounts are puslicly available

There were rio otner related party transactions during the year

25 Foreign currency

Transacuons in foregn currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the dates of the transactions Tangible assets
denominated in foreign currencies are shawn at historical cost Current assets ang all Liatilities denominated in fareign
currencies are transtated at the rate ruling at the end of the tinancial year All ditferences are recogmisec in prefit before tax




NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
- UK GAAP CONTINUED

at 31 December 2010

3  PROFIT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company s prafit and loss account has not been prasaniec
in thase financial siatements The Company s retained profit for the financiat year was £6 6 rullion (2009 £4 0 million)

Audit feas for the Company were £0 1 million (2009 £0 1 rullion)

Details of the Directors employed during the year anc of their remuneration s included in the Remuneration Report on pages 31 to 35

4  TENDER OFFER BUY-BACKS

Atender offer by way of a Circular dated 23 March 2010 for the purchase of 11n 48 shares at 600 pence per share was completed In
April It returnad £6 0 million to shareholders equivalant ta 12 5 pence per share

Atender offer by way of a Circular dated 19 August 2010 for the purchase of 11n 74 shares at 625 pence per share was camplatad
in September It returned ££ 0 millien te shareholders eguivalent to 8 5 pence per share

Afurther tender offer will be put to sharehalders in April 2041 for the purchasa of 1 4é shares at a price of 700 pence per share
which 1if approved, will return £7 1 mullion to sha~ehotders, equivalent to 15 2 pance per share

5 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS

2010 2609

£m £m

At 1 January 205 949
Additiens 153 §3
Provision far impairment - (14 5)
Disposals (0.3) a2
At 31 December 1055 905

The Directars consider that 1o give full particutars of all subsidiary undertakings would lead 1o a staternent of excessive length To
comply with the Cornpanies Act 2006 a full list of subsidiaries will be tiled with the Company s next annual reiurn

& TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2010 2609
£€m Em

Current
Amaunts owed by suosidizry undertakings 310 47 3
Prepayments and accrued incame 10 22
320 495

7 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2010 2009
£m £€m

Current
Amaunts owed ta subsiciary underiaxings 35 35
Trade payables 09 08
Accruals and deferred iIncome - 01
44 44
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Report of the Directers Property Partfolio Governance Finangial Statements CLS HOl.dlﬂgS plc
Annual Report & Accouns
CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL
Number
Ordinary
Ordinary Total shares in Treasury Total ordinary
shares in Treasury ardinary aircutation shares shares
circulation shares shares £m Em £m
At 1 January 2010 48,024,256 5,000,000 53,024,256 120 1.3 133
Cancelled following tender offers (1,643,012) - (1,643,012) {0 4) - (0 &)
Ordinary shares Issued from treasury shares 267,000 €207,000) - 01 (0.1) -
At 31 December 2010 46,588,244 4,793,000 51,381,244 117 12 129
Number
Qraoinary
Ordinary Total shares in Treasury Total ordinary
shares in Treasury ardinary arevlation shares sharas
circulation shares shares &m £€m €m
At 1 January 2009 81,745 471 5000000 446745471 154 13 147
Cancelled following tender offer (13,721,215) - (13721 215) (3 4} - (3 4)
At 31 Decernber 2009 48 024,256  5,000000 53024 254 120 13 133
SHARE PREMIUM ACCOUNT
2010 2005
€m Em
At 1 January 705 705
Ordinary shares issued frem treasury shares 10 -
At 31 December a ik 705
PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT AND OTHER RESERVES
Other reserves
Capital
redemption Profit and
reserve Other Tatal  loss account
£m £m Em £m
At 1 January 2010 204 44 2540 268
Purchase of own shares 04 - 04 (10.0)
Expenses thereof - - - on
Profit for the year - - - 66
At 31 December 2010 208 44 254 233
Cther reserves
Capital
regeraption P-a.it and
reserve Other Tetat  toss account
Em £m Em £m
At 1 January 2009 i70 L 216 554
Purchase of own shares 34 - 34 (48 Q)
Expenses therecf - - - (C2)
P-ofit fer the year - - - &0
At 31 December 2009 204 44 250 268




NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
— UK GAAP CONTINUED

at 3i December 20:0

13

14

RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS IN SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS

2010 2009

£m Em

Balance at 1 January 1356 177 8
Profit for the year &6 &0
Premium on 1ssue ot ordinary sharas from treasury shares 10 -
Purchase of own shares (101) (48 2)
Balance at 31 December 1331 135 6

DEFERRED INCOME TAX
No deferrad tax Liability anses relating to the Campany (2009 £mil)

CONTINGENCIES

At 31 December 2010 CLS Holdings ple had guaranteed certain babilities of Group companies, primarily in relatien to Group

borrowings and covering interest and amortisation paymeants No cross guarantees had been given in relation ta the principal
amounts of these borrowings Certa:n warranttes were given in the caurse of corperate sales curing 2008 Since the possibility of
payment by the Company under any or these quarantees and warrantias 1s cansidered remote, no provisions in relation to these

have been made In the Company s financial statements and no regortacle ceatingant liability exists

COMMITMENTS

At 31 Decemper 2010, the Company had no contracted capital expenditure (2009 £nil) and no au-nenised financial commitments

which were yat to be contracted with third garuies (2009 £nil)



Report of the Directors Property Portfolto Governance Financial Statements

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

31 December 2010

CLS Holdings plc

Annual Rezort & Accounts

2010 2007 2008 2007 2006

£m £n £m £fm £m

Group revenue 791 763 816 885 832
Costs (30 3) (303) (37 4) (49 %) 321
48 8 460 442 3% 6 511

Net movements on revaluation of investment properties 301 67 (103 3) (68 1) 162 1
Gain on sale of corporate bonds and other invastments 93 i9 - - 04
Profit/(loss) on sale of investment properties - 03 70 - [ER1)]
Profit/(loss) on dispasal of sucstdizries/jeint venture/associaies - - {i6 2) (a9 i9
Impairment of intangiole fixed assets and geodwill - - (22 0) - -
Operating prafit/{loss) 88 2 £15 {50 3) (30 4) 2147
Net finance costs (25 0) (25 5) (43 0) 427 {34 %)
Share of profit/(lass) of assaciates after tax 77 25 (75) 05 i)
Other nen-recurring costs - - {(13) - -
Profit/¢loss) before tax 70 9 185 (142 1) (72 6) LX)
Taxatien (10 8) (an 641 367 (203)
Profit/(loss) from continuing operations 601 174 {78 0) (32 9) 154 3
Loss from discontinued operations - - - - (z25)
Profit/{loss) far the year 401 17 & {78 0) (329 153 8
Share buy-backs paid and proposed 111 40 5% 0 g3 536

Net Assets Employed

Non-zurreni assets 1,018 6 944 2 8691 12515 1186 ¢
Current assets 59 8 807 205 ¢ 132 4 167 7
1,078 4 10249 10750 1,383 9 1,354 6
Current hiahilities {(1231) (164 3) {133 9) (1477 (%4 1)
Neon-current Lakilities (598 1) (351 4) {602 5) 813 1) (B12 4)
Net assets 3572 3060 338 4 4031 LAB 1
Ratias 2010 2009 2008 20C7 2004
Net assets per share (pence) 766 7 643 3 548 4 5951 417 2
EPRA net assels per share {pence) %418 8128 4901 7423 8225
Earnings/(loss) ver share (pence) 1271 364 (120 6) (457 1967
EPRA earmings/(loss) per share (pence) 588 280 202 (4 8) 69
Net gearing (%) 1523 1700 124 1§ 1691 1188
Adjusted nat gazning (%) 1236 134 8 562 1320 8% 1
Recurring interast cover {imes) 315 208 108 13 185




GLOSSARY OF TERMS

ADJUSTED NET ASSETS OR ADJUSTED SHAREHCLDERS FUNDS

Net assets excluding the mark-to-market on effective casn floew hedges
and related deb. adiustments and deferrad tax on revaluations

ADJUSTED NET GEARING
Net debl expressed as 2 percentage of adjusted net asse’s

ADJUSTED SOLIDITY
Adjusted net assets expressec as a percentage of adjusted total assats

ADJUSTED TOTAL ASSETS
Total assets excluding deferred tax assets

CONTRACTED RENT

Annuel contracted rentsl income after any rent-free periods have
exptred

CORE PROFIT

Prafit before tax and before net movements on revaluation of
investment properties profit on sale of investment preperties
subsidiaries and corporate boncs, tmpairment of intangible assets
anc goocwill non-recurring cests, cnange in fair value of derivatives
and foreign exchange variances

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

Profit after tax divided by the diluted weighted average number of
ordinary shares

DILUTED NET ASSETS

Equity shareholders funds increased by the potential proceecs from
issuing those shares 1ssuable under employee share schemes

DILUTED NET ASSETS PER SHARE OR DILUTED NET ASSET VALUE
Diluted net assets civided by the diluted number of crdinary shares

DILUTED NUMBER OF QRDINARY SHARES

Number af ordinary shares in circulation at the balance sheet date
adjusted ta include the effec. of potential dilutive shares 1ssuable
under employee share schemes

DILUTED WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF ORDINARY SHARES
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in 1ssue during the
period adjustec to include the effect of potential weighted average
dilutive shares 1ssuable under emplayee share schemes

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Profit afier tax dimded by the weighted average number of orcinary
shares inissue n the perioe

EPRA
Eurcpean Public Real Estate Asscciatien

EPRA EARNINGS PER SHARE

Profit afier tax but excluding net gains or losses from fair value
adjustments on investment properties, profits or losses on cisposat
of invesimeant properties and other nan-current investment interests
imeairment of goodwill and intangible assets, movernients in fair
value of denvative financial instruments and their relatad current
and deferred tax

EPRA NET ASSETS

Diluted net assats excluaing the mark-to-ma-ket on efizctve cash
flow hecges and relatec debt adjustments deferred tax on
revaluations and geodwill arising as a result of deferrad tax

EPRA NET ASSETS PER SHARE
EPRA net assats divided by the diluted number of ordinary shares

EPRA NET INITIAL YIELD

Annual passing rent less net service charge costs en investrment
properties exprassed as a percentage of the investmant proparty
valuation after edaing purcnasers costs

EPRA TOPPED UP NET INITIAL YIELD

Annual net rents on investrment properties expressed as a percentage
of the investrment property valuation after acding purchasers costs
EPRA TRIPLE NET ASSETS

EPRA net assets adjusted to reflect the fair value of debt and dervatives
and te include “he fair value of deferred tax on property revaluations
EPRA TRIPLE NET ASSETS PER SHARE

EPRA triple net assets divideg by the dduted number of ercinary shares

ESTIMATED RENTAL VALUE (ERV)
The market rantal value of lattable space as estimated by the Group s
valuers

NET ASSETS PER SHARE OR NET ASSET YALUE (NAY)
Equity shareholders funds dvidec by the number of ardinary shares

in circulation at the balance sheet date

NET DEBT
Total borrowings less cash and short-term deposits

NET GEARING
Net debt expressed as a percentage of net assets

NET INITIAL YIELD

Annual net rents en investment properties expressed as a percentage
of the investment praperty valuation

NET RENT

Contracted rent less net service charge costs

QCCUPANCY RATE

Centracted rent expressed as a percentage of the aggregate of
contracled rent and the ERV of vacant space

OVER-RENTED

The amaunt oy wnich ERV falls short of the aggregate of passing rent
and the ERV of vacant space

PASSING RENT
Contracted rent before any rent-free periogs have exoirad

PROPERTY LOAN TO VALUE

Prooerty borrewings expressed as a percentage of the markat value
of the proparty portfolio

RECURRING INTEREST COVER

The aggregate of group revenue less costs plus share of results of
associates, divided by the aggregate of interest exnense and
amartisation of 1ssue costs of debt less interest income

RENT ROLL
Contractaa rent

SoLIoITY
Equity shareholdars funds sxpressed as a percentage of total assets

TOTAL SHAREHOLDER RETURN

For a given numpoer of shares the aggregate of the proceeds from
tender offer buy-backs and change in the market value of the shares
during the year zdjusted for cancellations occasioned by such buy-
backs as a parcentage of the market vatue of the shares at the
beginning of the year

TRUE EGUIVALENT YIELD

The capitalisation rate apphlied to future cash flows to calculate the
gress property value, as deterrmined ay the Group s external valuers
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